

Australian Government

STATE PARTY REPORT ON THE

state of conservation for Australia's Great Barrier Reef

© Copyright Commonwealth of Australia, 2022.

State Party Report on the the state of conservation for Australia's Great Barrier Reef is licensed by the Commonwealth of Australia for use under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence with the exception of the Coat of Arms of the *Commonwealth* of Australia, the logo of the agency responsible for publishing the report, content supplied by third parties, and any images depicting people. For licence conditions see: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

This report should be attributed as 'State Party Report on the state of conservation of the Great Barrier Reef (Australia), Commonwealth of Australia 2022'.



Cover:

Left: Colourful reef fish swim amongst Acropora corals on Wheeler Reef: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: A Chinn **Right:** Green sea turtle hatchlings at North-West Island: © The State of Queensland.

state of conservation for Australia's Great Barrier Reef

PROPERTY ID N154

In response to World Heritage Committee Decision 44 COM 7B.90 1 February 2022

heritage natural

Left: Purple and orange Scalefin Anthias fish swarm the tops of the unique pinnacles found on The Ribbon Reefs (females are orange and the males are purple): © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: J Sumerling **Right:** The Reef Joint Field Management Program team gathers coral rubble to assemble Reef Bags in a trial to improve stability for coral substrates at Bait Reef in the Whitsundays Project Reefresh: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: Bridget Ferguson

CONTENTS

1	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (ENGLISH)	4
2	RÉSUMÉ (FRENCH)	5
3	INTRODUCTION	7
3.1	Response to the Decision of the World Heritage Committee	7
4	CURRENT STATE OF THE GREAT BARRIER REEF WORLD HERITAGE AREA	8
4.1	The 2019 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report	8
4.2	Updates on key values since the 2019 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report	9
4.3	Leading management practice	16
4.4	New and enhanced management actions since 2019	17
4.5	Expanding investment in Reef protection	18
5	THE REEF 2050 LONG-TERM SUSTAINABILITY PLAN	19
6	IMPROVEMENTS IN REEF WATER QUALITY	21
6.1	Progress towards water quality targets	22
6.2	Further investment in water quality	23
6.3	The Reef Trust Partnership	24
6.4	Strengthened water quality regulations	25
6.5	Water quality monitoring	26
6.6	Future reviews to drive improvements	26
7	ADDRESSING THE IMPACTS OF A CHANGING CLIMATE	27
7.1	Australia's action on climate change	28
7.2	Assessing the risk of climate change on the Reef	31
7.3	Reef resilience and adaptation to climate change impacts	31
7.4	Potential in-danger listing from climate change	33
8	OTHER CONSERVATION ISSUES IDENTIFIED BY THE STATE PARTY WHICH MAY	
	HAVE AN IMPACT ON THE PROPERTY'S OUTSTANDING UNIVERSAL VALUE	35
8.1	Support for more sustainable fishing	35
8.2	Control of the Crown-of-Thorns Starfish	36
8.3	Intervention and restoration of key habitats to support threatened species	37
8.4	Working in partnership with Traditional Owners	37
8.5	Tackling plastic waste	38
9	POTENTIAL MAJOR RESTORATIONS, ALTERATIONS AND/OR NEW CONSTRUCTION(S) INTENDED WITHIN THE PROPERTY, THE BUFFER ZONE(S) AND/OR CORRIDORS OR OTHER AREAS, WHERE SUCH DEVELOPMENTS MAY AFFECT THE OUTSTANDING UNIVERSAL VALUE OF THE PROPERTY, INCLUDING AUTHENTICITY AND INTEGRITY	39
9.1	Quarterly reporting	39
APPE	NDIX A: References	40
APPE	NDIX B: World Heritage Committee Decision 44 COM 7B.90	43
APPE	NDIX C: Map of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area	44
APPE	NDIX D: Long-term Monitoring Program Annual Summary Report on Coral Reef Condition 2020/2021 (Australian Institute of Marine Science 2021)	45
APPE	NDIX E: Key Documents Released Since January 2019	48
APPE	NDIX F: Fact Sheet: protecting the Great Barrier Reef	56

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (ENGLISH)

Australia is deeply committed to the responsible stewardship of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area and continues to act and invest to protect its Outstanding Universal Value and strengthen its resilience. The Australian Government's announcement, on 28 January 2022, of an additional \$1 billion for protection and management of the Reef extends our commitments to 2030.

We acknowledge that climate change is the biggest threat to all tropical reefs world-wide, including the Great Barrier Reef, and we are committed to working in partnership with the World Heritage Centre and the International Union for Conservation of Nature to ensure that our strategies and actions to protect the Reef remain world leading. As a party to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and the Paris Agreement, Australia is working with the international community to keep the goal of limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees within reach. Australia shares the target of net zero emissions by 2050 with many other nations, and we have a clear action plan to meet our targets and support rapid uptake of low emissions technologies at a global scale.

Over the past 3 years Australia has made significant progress in Reef protection efforts. We have released an update to our 35-year Reef 2050 Long-Term Sustainability Plan which fully incorporates the findings of the 2019 Outlook Report. We have also met or exceeded our water quality targets for several Reef catchments and increased total investment in the Reef to more than \$4 billion to 2030. The Reef 2050 Plan is the most comprehensive program of corrective measures ever to be developed and implemented for a World Heritage property. Limiting and adapting to the impacts of climate change is now integrated as a core element of the Plan. There are 3 new goals embedded within it: to respond to climate change through the Paris Agreement, to increase the capacity of Reef communities, Traditional Owners, and industries to adapt to a changing climate, and to support species and habitats to adapt to a changing climate.

We are accelerating efforts to improve water quality, with significant new investment and strengthened regulations since the 2019 State Party Report. The next 5-yearly update of the Reef 2050 Water Quality Improvement Plan will be completed in 2023 (the fourth update since 2003), underpinned by an updated independent Scientific Consensus Statement (the fourth update since 2002) to ensure we continue to adapt our management in response to new information. We are addressing all threats to the Reef: climate change, water quality, impacts of fishing, marine plastic pollution, and Crownof-Thorns Starfish, and we are boosting our efforts to rehabilitate and restore key habitats to support threatened species.

The Outstanding Universal Value of the Reef remains intact across all 4 natural World Heritage criteria for which it was inscribed on the World Heritage List. The Australian and Queensland governments are committed to investing the time, effort and resources required to sustain the Outstanding Universal Value of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area into the future.

great s reef

Compliance vessel, Reef Ranger, at Raine Island: © The State of Queensland

RÉSUMÉ (FRENCH)

L'Australie est profondément engagée dans une intendance responsable du site du patrimoine mondial de La Grande Barrière et elle continue d'agir et d'investir pour protéger sa valeur universelle exceptionnelle et renforcer sa résilience. L'annonce par le gouvernement de l'Australie, le 28 janvier 2022, d'un milliard de dollars pour la protection et la gestion de la Grande Barrière, prolonge nos engagements jusqu'en 2030.

Nous reconnaissons que le changement climatique est la plus grande menace qui pèse sur toutes les barrières de corail tropicales du monde entier, y compris sur la Grande Barrière de corail, et nous nous engageons à travailler en partenariat avec le Centre du patrimoine mondial et l'Union internationale pour la conservation de la nature afin de garantir que nos stratégies et mesures de protection de la Grande Barrière de corail restent les meilleures du monde. En tant que partie à la Conventioncadre des Nations unies sur les changements climatiques et à l'Accord de Paris, l'Australie œuvre avec la communauté internationale dans l'atteinte de l'objectif visant à limiter le réchauffement climatique à 1,5 degré. Tout comme de nombreuses autres nations, l'Australie adhère à l'objectif zéro émission nette d'ici 2050 et nous disposons d'un plan d'action clair pour atteindre nos objectifs et encourager l'adoption rapide, à l'échelle mondiale, de technologies à faible émission de carbone.

Au cours des trois dernières années, l'Australie a considérablement progressé dans ses efforts de protection de la Grande Barrière de corail. Nous avons publié une mise à jour de notre Plan de durabilité à long terme Reef 2050 sur 35 ans qui intègre pleinement les résultats du Rapport sur les perspectives de 2019. Nous avons également rempli ou dépassé nos objectifs en matière de qualité de l'eau pour plusieurs bassins versants de la Grande Barrière de corail et avons accru l'investissement total dans la Grande Barrière de corail à plus de 4 milliards de dollars supplémentaires. Le Plan de durabilité à long terme Reef 2050 est le programme le plus complet de mesures correctives jamais élaboré et mis en place pour un bien du Patrimoine mondial. Des mesures de limitation des impacts du changement climatique et d'adaptation à ceux-ci sont désormais intégrées en tant qu'élément central du Plan. Trois nouveaux objectifs ont été intégrés à ce Plan: faire face au changement climatique via l'Accord de Paris, renforcer la capacité des communautés, propriétaires traditionnels et industries de la Grande Barrière de corailà s'adapter au changement climatique ainsi qu'aider les espèces et les habitats à s'y adapter.

Nous accélérons nos efforts d'amélioration de la qualité de l'eau, avec de nouveaux investissements importants et un renforcement de la réglementation depuis le Rapport d'État partie de 2019. La prochaine mise à jour guinguennale du Plan d'amélioration de la qualité des eaux Reef 2050 sera terminée en 2023 (la quatrième mise à jour depuis 2003), étayée par une nouvelle Déclaration de consensus scientifique indépendante (la quatrième mise à jour depuis 2002) pour garantir que nous continuons d'adapter notre gestion en réponse aux nouvelles informations. Nous faisons face à toutes les menaces qui pèsent sur la Grande Barrière de corail : changement climatique, qualité de l'eau, impacts de la pêche, pollution plastique en mer et Couronnes d'épines, et nous redoublons d'efforts pour réhabiliter et restaurer les principaux habitats afin de venir en aide aux espèces menacées.

La valeur universelle exceptionnelle de la Grande Barrière de corail reste intacte au regard des quatre critères naturels du Patrimoine mondial auxquels elle a satisfait pour figurer sur la Liste du patrimoine mondial. Les gouvernements de l'Australie et de l'État du Queensland se sont engagés à investir le temps, les efforts et les ressources nécessaires pour maintenir, à l'avenir, la valeur universelle exceptionnelle du site du patrimoine mondial de la Grande Barrière.

3 Introduction

This State Party Report (the Report) provides an update on the state of conservation of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area in response to World Heritage Committee Decision 44COM 7B.90.

Since the Reef's inscription to the World Heritage List in 1981, the Australian Government has ensured that advice and recommendations from the World Heritage Committee are incorporated into the property's planning framework. The Committee has previously considered 16 State of Conservation Reports and 5 State Party Reports on the Reef, submitted by the Australian Government.

This Report demonstrates that the Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of the Reef is intact across all 4 natural World Heritage criteria for which it was inscribed on the World Heritage List. Incorporating the most recent information on the state of the Reef and Australia's progress in responding to the findings of the Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report - 2019 (2019 Outlook Report). The Report highlights improvements across several key attributes since the 2019 State Party Report and the management and conservation actions that have maintained the underlying resilience and integrity of the Reef. The Report outlines the actions the Australian and Queensland governments have taken in the past 3 years to implement the Reef 2050 Long-Term Sustainability Plan (Reef 2050 Plan), in partnership with landholders, Traditional Owners, Reef scientists and industry groups. The Australian and Queensland governments have invested more than \$4 billion to 2030 and we are committed to accelerating this progress.

Since the 2019 Outlook Report, Australia has made the following progress:

- The first comprehensive review of the Reef 2050 Plan has been completed, with an updated plan released on 20 December 2021. It focuses strategically on the key threats facing the Reef - climate change, land-based run-off, coastal development and aspects of human use of the Reef. The Reef 2050 Plan is the most comprehensive program of corrective measures ever developed and implemented for any World Heritage property.
- An **unprecedented \$1 billion** package, announced 28 January 2022, to support delivery of the updated Reef 2050 Plan, through to 2030. This represents the largest single investment in the Reef in Australia's history. The package includes:
 - \$579.9 million to improve Reef water quality, through measures such as gully remediation and improvements in agricultural practices.
 - \$252.9 million for continued worldleading Reef management, including removal of Crown-of-Thorns Starfish and protection of at-risk species.
 - \$92.7 million in further funding for the Reef Restoration and Adaptation
 Program, which is developing a suite of interventions to help the Reef resist, adapt to, and recover from climate change.
 - \$74.4 million for community and Traditional Owner-led partnership projects.

Left: Wuthathi Rangers working together on a fencing project: © Wuthathi Aboriginal Corporation Source: GBRF **Right:** Installaton of nitrate sensor under Water Quality innovation project: IntelliDesign Source: GBRF

- To reduce emissions and help limit the impact of climate change on the Reef, Australia is leading in areas of low emissions technology. We have deployed new renewable energy nearly 8 times faster pers capita than than the global average for new renewable energy installations in 2020, and today, more than 90% of solar cells globally use Australian technology. We aim to replicate this success with our next generation of low emissions technologies, with Australia's Technology Investment Roadmap to guide over \$21 billion of investments in low emissions technologies over the decade to 2030 which is expected to unlock a further \$84 billion in private and public investment. Australia has committed to a target of net zero emissions by 2050 with the Technology Investment Roadmap the cornerstone to achieving this. Most projects show that Australia will overachieve on its 2030 emissions reduction commitment under the Paris Agreement and is on track to achieve a 30-35% reduction on 2005 levels by 2030.1
- The Australian Institute of Marine Science's Long-Term monitoring program that has monitored the Reef for over 35 years, has shown in its latest snapshot in 2021 that hard coral cover increased over the last 2 years, demonstrating the Reef's resilience and ability to recover after disturbances.
- As part of the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program, the 2021 coral spawning event saw critical scaling milestones reached with 10 million coral larvae delivered via coral IVF across 4 reef locations, and juvenile colonies planted in 2016 spawning for the first time.
- Water quality targets have been met or exceeded for several Reef catchments, in addition:
 - We are almost halfway towards meeting the 2025 Reef-wide dissolved inorganic nitrogen target.
 - We are over halfway to meeting the 2025 Reef-wide fine sediment target.

- The Queensland Government's Reef protection regulations have been **strengthened,** to improve the quality of water flowing into the Reef through enhanced agricultural standards.
- Compliance activities to monitor and actions to regulate human uses of the World Heritage Area have been expanded, including increasing staff by more than 60%.
- Over \$190 million has been pledged since 2019 by philanthropists and corporate partners to leverage the Australian Government's Reef Trust Partnership grant to accelerate conservation efforts for the Great Barrier Reef.
- Half of the over 70 Traditional Owner clan groups with a connection to the Great Barrier Reef are now actively engaged in on-ground sea country management, reef protection and monitoring activities.

3.1 Response to the Decision of the World Heritage Committee

This State Party Report addresses World Heritage Committee Decision 44COM 7B.90 as follows:

- Section 4: Current state of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area
- Section 5: The Reef 2050 Long-Term Sustainability Plan
- Section 6: Improvements in Reef water quality
- Section 7: Addressing the impacts of a changing climate

In addition, Section 8 provides an overview of other conservation efforts to protect the OUV of the Reef.

¹ For example, Australia's Long-term Emissions Reduction Plan notes that 90% of commercial solar cells globally use Australian technology, over 1 in 4 Australian homes have solar panels (the world's highest uptake) and Australia has adopted low emissions technology 8 times faster than the global average for new renewable energy installations in 2020.

4 Current state of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area

44 COM 7B.90 Paragraph 4:

Notes with the utmost concern and regret the conclusions of the 2019 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report (2019 GBR Outlook Report) that the long-term outlook for the ecosystem of the property has further deteriorated from poor to very poor, **that the deterioration of the ecological processes underpinning the Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of the property has been more rapid and widespread than was previously evident**, and that the property has suffered significantly from mass coral bleaching events in 2016, 2017 and 2020.

The Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area comprises a large network of habitats, including coral reefs, seagrass beds, mangroves, islands, sponge gardens and deep oceanic areas. The Retrospective Statement of Outstanding Universal Value of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area refers to 38 attributes which make up its OUV.

As an extremely large property - over 348,000 km² or approximately the same area as Germany – the condition of the Reef's attributes can vary across regions and locations. The attributes can recover if disturbance-free periods are long enough and action is taken to address local and regional pressures, such as poor water quality and Crown-Of-Thorns Starfish. This is the basis for the targets and initiatives set out in the Reef 2050 Plan, along with the over \$4 billion in investment made by the Australian and Queensland governments to date, to support the Reef's OUV.

4.1 The 2019 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report

Every 5 years, the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority publishes an Outlook Report, as required under the *Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Act 1975* (Cth). Each Outlook Report assigns a 'grade' for the natural heritage values that constitute the Reef's overall OUV and a 'trend' for each value since the previous Report. This is not an assessment of the Reef ecosystem's current status, or a definitive forecast of its future condition, but a view of its long-term outlook if there is no further management action, particularly global action to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

The Outlook Report also makes an assessment of the long-term outlook for the Reef's ecosystem. In 2019, this was downgraded from 'poor' to 'very poor', strongly driven by trends in global greenhouse gas emissions and forecasts of climate change.

Outlook Reports are used by the Australian and Queensland governments to gauge the effectiveness of current management and protection measures in the Reef and adjacent catchments. They guide and inform adaptive management strategies in accordance with the IUCN Protected Area Management Effectiveness Framework.

The 2019 Outlook Report indicated that the Reef can recover from major impacts if its broader health is strong and disturbance-free periods are long enough.

The Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority will commence work in 2022 to develop the next 5-year Outlook Report, due for publication in 2024. This will involve an extensive data gathering process. Our world leading approach to adaptive management with this Outlook Report includes an independent assessment of the effectiveness of our management that will drive changes as required.

4.2 Improvements on key values since the 2019 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report

The Reef has experienced a period of recovery since 2019 (AIMS 2021a). For important habitats, such as coral reefs, islands, mangroves, coastal wetlands and seagrasses, conditions have either improved or remained stable. Australian and Queensland government actions and investments have continued to reduce impacts on Reef species. Coral heat stress and agricultural runoff were recorded as lower than previous years and there have been fewer impacts from cyclones (AIMS 2021a; Waterhouse et al., 2021). Crown-of-Thorns Starfish are a continuing pressure in the central and southern regions of the Reef but are being addressed through an ongoing, strategically targeted culling program.

Table 1 presents an overview of updated information on key values since the 2019 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report², along with information on related conservation actions.



The Reef Joint Field Management Program team working to restore sections of Bait Reef as part of Project Reefresh after it was hit by Cyclone Debbie: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: Bridget Ferguson

² The information featured in the 2019 Outlook Report is based on evidence derived from research and information sources for the reporting period, which was generally from January 2014 to December 2018.

Table 1 Updates on key values since the 2019 Outlook Report

Corals and Coral Reefs

2019 Outlook: Very poor

Current

Attribute

Observations: Mid-offshore reefs recovering, inshore reefs showing fewer signs of recovery The most recent Australian Institute of Marine Science's Long-Term Monitoring Program Annual Summary Report of Coral Reef Condition summarises the condition of 127 coral reefs based on surveys conducted between August 2020 and April 2021.

Mid-Offshore reefs

Updated information

Monitoring results indicate that most of the **mid-offshore reefs surveyed were found to be recovering**, after a series of severe and widespread disturbances, hard coral cover has increased in the northern, central and southern areas of the Reef. Preliminary analyses have documented shifts in the dominant coral forms on some reefs in the northern and southern parts of the Reef.

Inshore reefs

Long-term monitoring of inshore coral reefs found they remained in an overall poor condition in mid-2020. However, there were signs of recovery, with both coral cover and juvenile colonies increasing, improving primarily in the northern regions of the Reef (Thompson et al 2021).

In the Whitsunday Island region, affected by tropical Cyclone Debbie in 2017, coral condition remained in a poor state and had continued to decline due to persistence of competing macroalgae and chronic stress from high turbidity (Thompson et al 2021). The rate of decline has now slowed and scores for 4 of the 5 indicators have stabilised and begun to improve.

Priority investments and conservation actions

The Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program is aiming to deliver a toolkit of scalable coral restoration and adaptation activities. This initiative was supported by a \$150 million grant from the Australian Government and has been boosted by the recent \$92.7 million investment to extend the program until 2030. This initiative will seek to enhance natural adaption and resilience to climate change and significantly fast track regeneration and restoration of coral cover lost through previous extreme weather events.

Reef rehabilitation tools designed to improve small-scale live coral cover have been trialled at 2 reefs, Bait Reef and Green Island Reef. This is a multi-stakeholder collaboration between the Reef Authority, Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service, BMT, The Coral Nurture Program, Mars Incorporated and local tourism operators. Recovery has been slow and patchy.

A coral restoration hub, based in Cairns and Port Douglas, has been established to consolidate and bolster local coral gardening activities with a focus on activities led by tourism operators in partnership with marine science institutions.

The Australian Government manages export approvals for commercial fishing operations in the area of the Great Barrier Reef. A range of precautionary harvest limits are in place for key coral species and arrangements are in place to closely monitor coral harvest. These measures are designed to help ensure that harvest of corals does not unduly impact the Reef's recovery and that fishery operations remain sustainable.

Seagrass

Attribute

2019 Outlook: Poor

Current Observations: Recovering The Reef's seagrass meadows are critically important habitats for a variety of species. They are the primary food source for dugongs and turtles, and a major carbon sink (York et al 2018; Coles et al 2015). Seagrass meadows are spatially and temporally dynamic throughout the Reef and can recover following impacts. Recovery after disturbance generally occurs within 3 to 5 years, although it can take up to a decade if pressures are high.

Inshore seagrass remained in poor condition in 2020 (McKenzie et al 2021). However, **the overall trend since 2011 at long-term monitoring locations is one of recovery**, with the exception of Mourilyan Harbour, due to little natural connectivity and loss of seed banks (Smith et al 2021; Reason et al 2021a; McKenna et al 2021; York et al 2021; McKenna 2021b; Reason 2021; Van de Wetering C 2021).

Priority investments and conservation actions

A seagrass restoration demonstration site has been established in the Whitsundays, supported by a Traditional Owner and community managed local seagrass nursery, for the holding of wild seagrass flowers for seed collection (*Zostera muelleri*) and propagation plants for seed production and transplants (*Zostera muelleri* and *Halodule uninervis*). This pilot project will trial seagrass restoration and enhancement in the Pioneer Bay region and will also measure carbon sequestration.

Public moorings have been installed in popular overnight anchorages, including Refuge Bay and Roylen Bay, to protect the seagrass meadows from anchor damage.

Water quality improvement programs funded by the Australian and Queensland governments are assisting in the restoration of seagrass in the Reef, now extended to 2030 under the Australian Government's recent \$1 billion funding announcement. See Section 6 for further information.

A project designed to protect and enhance fish habitats across central Queensland's coast is underway that will work to **restore seagrass communities** considered to be critical fish habitats. Through removal of marine debris, threats to seagrass communities will be reduced and seagrass propagation will be assisted in areas experiencing meadow loss. The project will engage university researchers, local recreational fishing groups and communities to increase awareness and stewardship for these essential marine habitats.

Dugongs

2019 Outlook: Poor

Current Observations:

Remote coast stable, no new data for urban coast The Reef is home to a significant population of dugongs, contributing to the property's OUV. Dugongs are important in the functioning of coastal marine habitats, particularly seagrass systems. They are also important cultural keystone species for local communities.

Dugong abundance and distribution is monitored periodically throughout the Reef. Two distinct areas are recognised: the remote coast (from Cooktown to the northern boundary of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park) and the urban coast (from Cooktown south to the southern boundary of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park). The trend of dugong populations in these 2 areas differ.

Data from aerial surveys indicates that the **status of remote coast dugong populations is stable and the percentage of calves in the remote coast dugong populations has increased slightly** from previous years (Marsh et al. 2020). There has been no published research on the trend of the urban coast population since the 2019 Outlook Report. Efforts to conserve seagrass meadows contribute to the conservation of dugong population.

Dugong protection has increased in 2021 through a new Traditional Use of Marine Resource Agreement that supports Darumbal Traditional Owners to manage populations of dugong in their Sea Country. This agreement covers over 36,600 km², increasing the coverage of similar agreements to over 40% of the Great Barrier Reef coastline. Similar agreements are being developed by other Traditional Owner groups.

turtles within the Reef.

Marine Turtles There are 6 species of marine

2019 Outlook: Poor

Current

Attribute

Observations: Variable, limited

new information

Monitoring of turtle stranding numbers detected no significant trends of concern from 2020 to July 2021 (Department of Environment and Science 2021b). Longrunning monitoring along the Woongarra coast indicates the number of nesting loggerhead turtles decreased slightly

between 2017 and 2020

and Science 2021a).

(Department of Environment

The gender of marine turtle hatchlings is determined by the temperature of the sand around buried turtle eggs. Low male production rates over recent decades have implications for future breeding capacity. Estimates from nest temperature monitoring at green turtle nesting site for the northern Reef population, suggest that less than 1% of hatchlings produced across a season are male (Booth et al 2020). The imbalance in the male to female ratio is a risk for the future of marine turtle species on the Reef.

Conservation action is backed by enhanced monitoring activities which continue to be implemented. These include flatback turtle monitoring on Wild Duck Island (the largest rookery for flatbacks in the World Heritage Area). other marine turtle high value nesting sites (such as Heron. Wreck and Peak islands), population dynamics of foraging loggerhead turtles in the Capricorn Bunker Group and commencement of the marine turtle satellite telemetry tracking study to investigate population recovery for island nesting loggerhead turtles compared to mainland nesters.

Priority investments and conservation actions

Research into nest cooling interventions, and new population dynamic studies in foraging grounds is being supported by a \$5.93 million investment through the Reef Trust Partnership from 2020. The Great Barrier Reef Green Turtle Research Program will identify management actions to mitigate impacts of climate change on the stock and enhance the co-management capacity of Traditional Owners, within whose sea country northern green turtles nest and forage.

The \$3.857 million Integrated Habitat Restoration for the Discovery Coast project will protect marine turtles by building large, centralised, feral predator exclusion turtle hatchery structures and positioning partial shade structures on Discovery Coast nesting beaches with the aim of reducing the feminisation of turtle hatchlings due to climate change-driven increases in nest temperatures.

The Raine Island Recovery Project, designed to restore and protect the world's largest remaining green turtle rookery, has protected the rookery of 100,000 nesting turtles against the threats of climate change and sea level rise and will enable an additional 4.9 million hatchlings to start their lives on the Great Barrier Reef over the next 10 years. The Queensland Department of Environment and Science continues to collaborate with Wuthathi and Meriam Nation (Ugar, Mer, Erub) Traditional Owners, the Reef Authority, the Great Barrier Reef Raine Island, the most important Foundation and BHP on this successful project.

> The Nest to Oceans program has successfully protected threatened marine turtle nests from predators and other threats along the Queensland coast since 2014. In 2020-21, the Queensland Government provided an additional \$1.27 million for groups to undertake activities that would also support the sustainability of priority nesting beaches and this was matched by Australian Government funding of an additional \$1.27 million over 2 years from 2021-23 to continue the program. 81% of turtle nests within the project areas have produced hatchlings and the program has built local community capacity through training, employment and education.

> The Mon Repos Conservation Park (just south of the World Heritage Area) supports the largest concentration of nesting marine turtles on the eastern Australian mainland and has the most significant loggerhead turtle nesting population in the South Pacific region. In April 2021 the Queensland Government purchased an additional 42 hectares of land directly adjoining the Park, effectively doubling the size of the Park to 87 hectares and establishing an environmental buffer for this critical turtle rookery that supports a species that ranges throughout the Reef. This will also facilitate the restoration of important Great Barrier Reef coastal wetland habitats located behind the foredunes, as well as protect the groundwater flows that help maintain the health of the turtle rookery. Once restored, the wetland habitat will also help minimise interference from artificial light during the hatching season.

> The Queensland Government's Plastic Pollution Reduction Plan banned the use of specific single-use plastic items such as plastic straws and cutlery from 1 September 2021, with other items to be added in the coming years. This builds on a ban on lightweight plastic bags and introduction of a container refund scheme implemented in 2018. These actions are reducing the sources of plastics in the marine environment that impact turtles and other species.

Bony fishes

Attribute

2019 Outlook: Good

Current Observations: Variable Since 2020, long-term monitoring surveys show that herbivorous fish abundance has consistently increased on offshore areas across much of the property (AIMS 2021b).

Approximately 1600 bony fish species are found in the Reef, contributing to several attributes of the property's OUV. There are long-term monitoring programs to identify changes in abundance of these species over time.

In 2019, monitoring of coraldependent fish groups (Butterflyfish, Parrotfish and Surgeonfish) indicated small declines across the Reef (AIMS 2021b). This was likely due to habitat loss following coral bleaching events. The abundance of herbivorous fish, such as Parrotfish and Surgeonfish, was variable across the Reef.

Since 2020, long-term monitoring surveys show that herbivorous fish **abundance has consistently increased** on offshore areas across much of the property (AIMS 2021b).

For coral-dependent fish, trends have been variable since 2019. More recently, abundance increased in the northern parts of the property and declined at monitoring sites in the south. Coral Trout, a large predatory reef fish, highly valued by recreational and commercial fishers, have increased in abundance across many monitoring sites since the previous State Party Report (AIMS 2021a).

Priority investments and conservation actions

An integrated **Reef Fish Monitoring program has been established** by the Australian Institute of Marine Science (funded by the Reef Trust Partnership) in late 2021. This project will run to 2024 and includes monitoring of key species (mostly of bony fish) of recreational, commercial, biocultural and ecological significance to provide clear, concise assessments of fish status to a wide range of stakeholders. It is the largest fish monitoring program of its type ever undertaken on the Reef and **for the first time, includes extensive engagement with Traditional Owners** to co-design monitoring activities and provide training to monitor Sea Country.

Fisheries management in the Reef continues to be strengthened through the Queensland Sustainable Fisheries Strategy 2017-2027. This has included quota allocation and development of harvest strategies across multiple fisheries and improved compliance and enforcement.

The Queensland Coral Fishery has recently been reviewed and assessed under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (Cth), and conditions on operation of the fishery have been tightened – including stringent new harvest limits, reporting requirements and a new ecological risk assessment.

The Australian Government's recent \$1 billion funding commitment for the Reef includes \$74.4 million to 2030, for new Traditional Owner and local community partnership and stewardship initiatives, which will help support bony fishes.

Mangrove forests

2019 Outlook: Good/Very Good

Current

Observations: Limited new information Mangroves are a critical component of the Reef's OUV. The Reef's mangrove forests encompass at least 41 mangrove species and hybrids, which represent 50% of mangrove species worldwide.

Initial examination of remote sensingbased canopy cover for 2018 through to 2020 indicates that the **general stability of mangrove forests in the Reef** has probably continued (Geoscience Australia 2021). To protect wetlands for the future, a framework for a standardised school-based **Mangrove Watch monitoring program** is being developed through the Reef Trust Partnership, supporting teacher training, student engagement and curriculum materials. By upskilling the future generation of Reef stakeholders on the importance of mangroves for the Great Barrier Reef, increased data captured through citizen-science led mangrove monitoring will help inform local mangrove management and conservation.

Islands

Attribute

2019 Outlook: Good

Current

Observations: Limited new information The Reef ecosystem includes approximately 1050 islands, supporting a diversity of habitats and species. The Reef's Island vistas are an important part of the property's natural beauty and demonstrate major stages of its evolutionary history.

Management of Reef islands has continued with **no major pressures since 2019**.

Priority investments and conservation actions

The Reef Islands Initiative is restoring critical island habitats to protect ecosystems and save vulnerable species. This is the **largest Reef island habitat restoration project in the Southern hemisphere** – bringing together Traditional Owners, scientists, local tourism leaders, governments and the community to protect and restore critical habitats. There are currently 3 island sites – Lady Elliot Island, the Whitsunday Islands, and Avoid Island.

The Queensland Government invested \$25 million to deliver the **Great Barrier Reef Island Resorts Rejuvenation Program** focusing on a range of initiatives that grow, green and clean developed islands. Under the program, the Cape Richards resort site on the northern tip of Hinchinbrook Island has been restored and returned to national park.

Surveys on Wild Duck Island show a significant decrease in the number of rusa deer, an environmentally damaging introduced pest species, through recent culling programs (Amos et al 2021). The Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service has purchased the leasehold for the remaining land and will conduct a full **restoration of the habitat**.

Removal of feral animals from Curtis Island has supported the continued stable trend of critically endangered Capricorn yellow chats (GBRMPA et al 2021).

The Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service has completed a reduction in the size and impact of camping sites on Lady Musgrave and Heron Islands to **reduce the impact on critical seabird and turtle nesting sites**.

A \$5.5 million Reef Trust investment is assisting the Reef Authority to undertake important **Reef Islands Restoration** work. Working with Traditional Owners the project aims to restore the ecology of degraded islands and provide critical habitat for breeding seabirds and restore Pisonia forests on islands in the northern and far northern Great Barrier Reef.

The **Great Barrier Reef Island Arks Program** launched in October 2020 is a \$6 million investment established to increase the island protected area estate and to work with First Nations People to restore and manage key ecological and cultural sites. In May 2021 the tourism lease of Wild Duck Island, largest flatback turtle rookery for the eastern Australian population, was acquired. The **restoration of this habitat** will be undertaken in partnership with First Nations People.

Seabirds

Attribute

2019 Outlook: Poor

Current Observations: Variable The Reef includes 20 populations of seabird species (Congdon 2019). Threats to these seabirds include fishing impacts, disturbance by visitors to Reef islands and invasive pests. Broad-scale factors, such as marine heatwaves and El Niño events can also cause problems to seabird health and reproductive success (Woodworth et al 2021).

Seabirds are monitored as part of the Reef Joint Field Management Program. An analysis of 4 decades of monitoring data, focused on 9 species from 32 islands and cays across the Reef, indicate **variable trends in these populations**.

Probable declines in monitored seabird species occurred at 45% of the sites, compared with increases at 14%. However, no long-term changes were detected in the 2 most widely distributed species, greater crested tern and brown booby (Woodworth et al 2021).

Priority investments and conservation actions

An integrated seabird monitoring program will commence in early 2022, utilising high-tech drones and acoustic recorders to better understand changes in abundance of seabird populations and enable increasingly proactive management.

The Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service will be overseeing this monitoring program in partnership with Reef Traditional Owner groups as well as Land and Sea Ranger Groups. This is the largest and most ambitious seabird monitoring program of its kind on the Reef.

Island conservation initiatives can also contribute to the conservation of seabirds. See 'Islands' section of this table.



Biodegradable Reef Bags, made from a coconut waste product, are stitched together underwater to bundle loose coral rubble in a trial to assist recovery of damaged reef at Bait Reef as part of Project Reefresh © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: Bridget Ferguson

The management of the Reef is a world-class, joint-jurisdictional, collaborative and expanding effort that sets the bar for management of a World Heritage area. The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development's Environmental Performance Review, released in January 2019, cites the Reef 2050 Plan as an exemplar for other biodiversity conservation programs.

The Australian and Queensland governments have outlined their shared commitments and outcomes for the protection of the Reef through the Great Barrier Reef Intergovernmental Agreement. This Agreement is underpinned by a governance framework that facilitates joint activities, such as field management and water quality improvement measures, and has been foundational in successfully delivering the joint management approach. Joint management is underpinned by an extensive suite of Commonwealth and Queensland laws to protect the Reef's OUV.

The Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority is Australia's lead management agency for the Reef. Established under the *Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Act 1975*, it uses the best available science to protect values, reduce threats, and improve the current and long-term outlook for the Reef and the communities that depend on it. The Reef Authority works in partnership with Traditional Owners, other Australian and Queensland government agencies, industry, community organisations, and individuals.

The Reef Authority's world-leading, bestpractice coral reef management uses strong enduring actions underpinned by regulation supported by robust rule of law. Given the increased pressure posed by climate change, the Reef Authority is encompassing new marine park management approaches that include stronger interventions to support Reef resilience. Major developments include the release of the joint Reef Authority-Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service Reef intervention policy (2020), a new Traditional Owner-led Traditional Use of Marine Resources Agreement (2021), development and release of the joint Reef Authority-Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service 15-year Tourism Management Action Strategy for the Reef (2021) a and modernisation of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Regulations (April 2019).

There has also been greater investment and support for specific intervention projects funded by the Reef Trust Partnership, including the expansion of the Crown-of-Thorns Starfish Control Program, and establishment of the flagship Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program initiated by the Australian Institute of Marine Science.

A proportion of the Reef Authority's core operational budget is derived from commercial Reef users. The COVID-19 pandemic impacted commercial use of the Reef, particularly Reef-based tourism. Since the start of the pandemic, the Australian Government has invested an additional \$270 million into the Reef Authority to ensure it can continue to deliver world-leading management independent of market fluctuations. This investment has also provided financial relief through the waiver of fees and taxes applied to Reef-dependent business.

The Reef Joint Field Management Program

(delivered jointly by the Reef Authority and Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service) provides a constant, in-park presence delivering conservation actions, checking for change, responding to incidents, welcoming people and upholding compliance. The Program is a unique and highly successful model for implementing effective cross-jurisdictional management of such a significant biological asset.

Australia proactively shares its expertise and knowledge gained over 45 years of managing the Reef with the international community to enhance the protection of coral reefs worldwide. As the International Coral Reef Initiative Secretariat from 2018 to 2021. Australia has driven knowledge sharing and capacity building for coral reef managers and policy makers globally. This has included bringing 15 new members into ICRI to build their knowledge in coral reef management, producing world-first guidance for policy makers on resilience-based management and reinvigorating the Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network, coordinated by AIMS.

4.4 New and enhanced management actions since 2019

The Reef Joint Field Management Program has undergone a significant expansion that will see a doubling of the program by 2021-22 from 2017 levels. This unprecedented expansion has enabled new and improved management actions and resources. It has also facilitated collaborations with stakeholders and partners to improve knowledge and management practices. These activities will be extended and **enhanced over the coming years, through the Australian Government's \$1 billion funding package**. Achievements since 2019 include:

- An increase in staff delivering in-field activities of more than 20% since mid-2019 (142 staff in 2018-19 to 173 staff in 2020-21).
- Launch of the new state-of the-art 24-metre vessel *Reef Resilience* in May 2021, continuing the delivery of a rolling five-year vessel replacement program to ensure fit-for-purpose vessels are able to reach the entire World Heritage area. Construction of 17-metre Tamoya II is near completion, with it due to enter service in 2022. A new 19-metre barge, to be based in Townsville, is expected to be delivered in 2022-23.
- In collaboration with research institutions, tourism operators and industry, local intervention trials (for example at Magnetic Island in Townsville and Green Island in Cairns) are underway to inform management responses to incidents (e.g. bleaching events, cyclones and ship groundings).
- Collaboration with the Australian Institute of Marine Science and the Queensland University of Technology is underway to support trials of unmanned vessels to improve benthic monitoring, incident response and mooring maintenance.
- Modelling of seabird foraging on the Reef was completed in collaboration with James Cook University. Work to collect additional data is underway to strengthen the model.
- The Reef Trails initiative, an investment of over \$20 million has provided visitor access to reefs and islands that minimises environmental impacts by establishing a network of world class visitor facilities (lookouts, walking tracks, public moorings), including 30 new public moorings, and 17 associated reef protection markers in the Whitsundays.

The Crown-of-Thorns Starfish Control program has continued to evolve, with major improvements in the targeting of reefs to protect the corals crucial to maintain healthy coral reefs. Better monitoring and research are delivering enhanced understanding of outbreak dynamics. Further information is provided in Section 8.

Reef-based tourism operators have continued to play a crucial role in showcasing and protecting the Reef's Outstanding Universal Value. The Australian Government invested \$3.2 million into the Reef Authority's Tourism Industry Activation and Reef Protection Initiative, which supported existing frontline jobs in the Reef's tourism industry. Tourism operators were able to continue their presence in the Marine Park and deliver additional activities to conserve high-value tourism sites along the Reef through education, monitoring, intervention and conservation activities.

These management functions will be further stepped up through to 2030, as a result of the Australian Government's recent \$1 billion funding announcment for the Reef.

> A water quality monitoring micro station at Nash's Crossing in the Lower Herbert River which monitors river levels and concentrations of nitrate and sediment in near real time: © The State of Queensland

4.5 Expanding investment in Reef protection

Australian and Queensland government investment to implement the Reef 2050 Plan now stands at more than \$4 billion up to 2030. The additional investment of an additional \$1 billion in Reef management and conservation, announced on 28 Jauary 2022, demonstrates Australia's ongoing commitment to fully implement the Reef 2050 Plan. As foreshadowed in the 2019 State of Conservation Report, there has been an increased focus in building partnerships and unlocking co-investment in the Reef through philanthropic, granting and impact investment mechanisms. This strategy, despite hugely disrupted economic markets during the COVID-19 global pandemic, is proving to be successful in attracting new investors to coral reef conservation and in growing the overall investment in on-ground action. The Reef Recovery 2030 Fundraising campaign has been recognised as a flagship action in the UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development.³

There is strong momentum around sustainable financing globally. Enabling this through both traditional and emerging market mechanisms will remain a key focus of the Australian and Queensland governments in driving greater and enduring investment in coral reef health.

ustainable



Eye on the Reef: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA)

³ For example, see Section 6.3 on the ongoing Reef Trust Partnership

5 The Reef 2050 Long-Term Sustainability Plan

44 COM 7B.90 Paragraph 7:

Urges the State Party to ensure that the revised Reef 2050 Plan, expected to be finalized in 2021, fully incorporates the conclusions of the 2019 GBR Outlook Report that accelerated action at all possible levels is required to address the threat from climate change, in accordance with the Paris Agreement on Climate Change (2015), and to urgently create opportunities for recovery of the property, in particular with regard to water quality.

44 COM 7B.90 Paragraph 8:

Requests the State Party to invite a joint World Heritage Centre/IUCN Reactive Monitoring centred around ensuring that the revised Reef 2050 Plan addresses the threat posed to the property by climate change and determines a pathway for accelerated actions in other areas affecting the conservation of the property.

The Reef 2050 Long-Term Sustainability Plan (Reef 2050 Plan) is Australia's strategy for protecting and managing the Reef to support its health and resilience. It sets out a 35-year vision for the Reef that we are striving to achieve as custodians of this World Heritage icon.

The updated Reef 2050 Plan is the most comprehensive program of corrective measures ever to be developed and implemented for a World Heritage property. The Australian Government's additional \$1 billion commitment, announced on 28 January 2022, will fund the Plan's implementation through to 2030.

The Reef 2050 Plan is overseen by the Ministers with responsibility for Reef matters from each of the Australian and Queensland governments. It draws on expertise from the Reef 2050 Plan Independent Expert Panel and the Reef 2050 Advisory Committee. On 20 December 2021 the Australian and Queensland governments released an updated Reef 2050 Plan. The updated plan has been revised to be more strategic, providing greater flexibility in how the Australian and Queensland governments adapt management strategies in response to changing pressures on the Reef.

The updated Reef 2050 Plan includes:

- A new Vision for the Reef supported by a context statement emphasising the importance of urgent and strong action to address climate change and its impacts on the Reef.
- A new Outcomes Framework that provides a pathway for accelerated action to conserve the property by providing a clearer line of sight between the outcomes needed to sustain the Reef and the specific actions that are being proposed to meet these outcomes. It comprehensively addresses the threats facing the Reef and creates opportunities for recovery, by reducing pressures and actively restoring impacted areas.
- A response to the findings of the 2019
 Outlook Report, ensuring that Australia is addressing the highest risks to the Reef climate change, land-based run-off, coastal development and aspects of human use of the Reef. The updated Reef 2050 Plan includes new objectives and goals that are more strategic in character, to effectively map commitments in each work area to the threats identified in the 2019 Outlook Report.
- Clear commitments to limit the impacts of climate change on the Reef, with 3 goals relating to climate mitigation and adaptation:
 - Australia contributes to an effective global response to climate change through the Paris Agreement.
 - The capacity of Reef communities, Traditional Owners, and industries to adapt to a changing climate is increased.
 - Species and habitats are supported to adapt to a changing climate.

- A continued commitment to strong action to improve water quality by reducing landbased impacts from both rural and urban areas. It commits to the implementation of the Reef 2050 Water Quality Improvement Plan 2017-2022 (a nested plan under the overall Reef 2050 Plan) to meet water quality targets.
- An increased focus on empowering communities to take stronger action to protect the Reef, and greater reflection on and inclusion of Traditional Owner aspirations. There is a stronger focus on stewardship, collaboration and partnerships, supported by established and strong governance arrangements.
- A maintained focus on an integrated approach to ports management and shipping, to ensure enduring benefits from improved planning systems for ports, as identified in the 2019 Outlook Report. Existing measures that have enhanced management effectiveness include:
 - Restricting new port activities and development to within established ports.
 - Prohibiting transhipment of bulk materials within the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area outside of existing port boundaries.
 - Restricting capital dredging to 4 major ports along the Reef coast.
 - Prohibiting the disposal of capital dredge material in the World Heritage Area.
- A continued commitment to the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program that draws together multiple environmental, social and economic monitoring and modelling programs as a joint partnership involving Australian and Queensland government entities, together with Traditional Owner members. This provides Reef managers with integrated access to information, guide management decisions and help track progress against the Reef 2050 Plan, drive better alignment between existing programs and help to fill monitoring and modelling knowledge gaps.

An **updated investment framework** within the Reef 2050 Plan (rather than a separate document), with 3 new investment priorities: climate change, reef restoration and adaptation, and modern marine park management.

Reef 2050 updated vision and context statement

The Reef 2050 Plan's vision for the Reef in 2050 is that: **The Great Barrier Reef is sustained as a living natural and cultural wonder of the world**.

The Reef is under significant pressure. The challenge to sustain the Reef for future generations is big and requires everyone to do more. Actions taken now by governments, industry, land managers, scientists, Traditional Owners and the community are essential to improving the Reef's future. Strong local, national and global action is required to support our vision for the Reef.

The vision reflects the Outstanding Universal Value of the Reef and its international importance. The Reef 2050 Plan aims to create a future in which the Reef is in a better condition and is sustained for future generations.

Limiting global temperature rise to the maximum extent possible, and certainly within the objectives of the Paris Agreement, is critical to improving the outlook for the Reef. Strengthening actions now to reduce pressures and developing interventions to support adaptation can help the Reef but must be combined with concerted global action to reduce greenhouse gas emissions as quickly as possible.

6 Improvements in Reef Water Quality

44 COM 7B.90 Paragraph 5:

Also notes with the utmost concern that despite many positive achievements, progress has been largely insufficient in meeting key targets of the Reef 2050 Plan, in particular the water quality and land management targets, as evidenced by the conclusions of the 2017-2018 and 2019 Reef Quality Report Cards.

The Great Barrier Reef's water quality has seen significant and consistent improvements, towards Australia's 2025 targets for the Reef. We are making progress to the 2025 Reef water quality pollutant reduction targets – as of June 2019 this included:

- More than halfway to the water quality target for fine sediment – 15.2% reduction achieved toward the target of 25%.
- Almost halfway to the water quality target for dissolved inorganic nitrogen – 27.7% reduction achieved toward the target of 60%.

The Reef 2050 Water Quality Improvement Plan 2017-2022 is Australia's blueprint for achieving its water quality commitments under the Reef 2050 Plan. It establishes a framework to coordinate, deliver and evaluate the actions taken toward meeting these commitments across each part of the Reef. The Water Quality Improvement Plan is guided by:

- Clear and measurable water quality targets.
- A system for prioritisation of investment, between catchments, target pollutants and intervention types, through the Reefonomics tool.
- A robust and transparent program for monitoring and evaluation of progress toward meeting the targets, through tools such as the Paddock to Reef Integrated Monitoring, Modelling and Reporting program.
- A mechanism for public reporting on progress, through the Reef Water Quality Report Card.
- A process to review and update the Water Quality Improvement Plan (it has been reviewed three times since 2003), as new data and research surfaces in the scientific literature, with the next review due in 2023.

Funding programs to improve water quality focus on 3 key areas of change:

- Minimum practice standards designed to eliminate the highest risk land management practices in the Reef catchments.
- Building the capacity of land managers to reduce nutrient and sediment runoff through more efficient farming systems.
- Catchment restoration to reduce soil erosion and land degradation, through activities such as gully and streambank rehabilitation.



A riparian revegetation site at Innisfail, funded through the Queensland Government's Reef Assist program: © Terrain NRM Source: Queensland Government

6.1 Progress towards water quality targets

The world-leading Paddock to Reef Integrated Monitoring, Modelling and Reporting Program (Paddock to Reef program) has provided the framework for evaluating and reporting progress towards Water Quality Improvement Plan targets since 2009. It evaluates management practice adoption and effectiveness, catchment condition, pollutant runoff and marine condition through a combination of on ground monitoring, satellite technology and modelling to predict outcomes.

The forthcoming 2020 Reef Water Quality Report Card will show that some of the targets in the Reef have already been met or exceeded - such as the pesticide target in the Kolan catchment of the Burnett Mary region, and the sediment target in the Normanby catchment of Cape York. At a Reef-wide scale, the 2020 Reef Water Quality Report Card showed:

- 27.7% reduction in dissolved inorganic nitrogen pollution towards the 60% reduction target.
 - The introduction of regulated minimum practice standards for the agricultural sector is projected by the Queensland Government to increase this figure to approximately 48.9% by 2025.
- 15.2% reduction in fine sediment pollution towards the 25% reduction target.
 - The introduction of regulated minimum practice standards for the agricultural sector is projected by the Queensland Government to increase this figure to approximately 18.7% by 2025.

These results are a conservative estimate of actual progress because projects to improve water quality are in different stages of implementation. Not all results achieved during the reporting period have been captured in available reports.

The Australian Government's recent \$1 billion funding announcement for the Reef includes \$579.9 million on measures to accelerate these achievements, in collaboration with farmers and other landholders.

Over the next 2 years we will be able to provide more accurate data from our water quality programs (funded through the Trust Partnership, the Australian Government Reef Trust, the Queensland Government Reef Water Quality Program and Queensland Government Natural Resources Investment Program), and from the Queensland Government's strengthened regulatory changes (see section 6.3 below).

world-leading

Humphead Maori Wrasse fish swimming in waters of the Great Barrier Reef: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: C Jones

6.2 Further investment in water quality

Since the completion of the 2019 State Party Report significant additional investment has been delivered to improve Reef water quality:

- December 2019 \$46 million through the Australian Government's partnership with the Great Barrier Reef Foundation, for landscape remediation and improvements in agriculture practices in the Lower Herbert, Lower Burdekin and Mary catchments. Priority was given to projects focused on dissolved organic nitrogen and fine sediment control.
- **December 2019** Introduction of minimum practice agricultural standards by the Queensland Government, to be rolled out over a 5-year period. The regulated standards will reduce sediment and nutrient runoff from properties in Reef catchments.
- January 2020 The Queensland Government introduces its Land Restoration Fund, with funding applications sought from Queensland landowners. Part of this funding will be used to finance projects in the Reef catchments, delivering co-benefits for biodiversity, Reef water quality and carbon sequestration. In the first Land Restoration Fund Investment Round in 2020, 11 projects delivering benefits to Reef water quality in priority catchments for sediment reduction were contracted to the value of \$53 million.
- January 2020 \$10 million committed in grants through the Reef Trust Partnership to drive transformational change in how water quality improvement activities are designed, funded and implemented.
- April 2020 \$12.6 million through the Australian Government's partnership with the Great Barrier Reef Foundation on a series of grants for farmers and local organisations across catchment areas from Cairns to Mackay. The grants were for on-ground improvements that will reduce sediment, nutrient, and pesticide runoff.

- June 2020 \$6.1 million on a 2-year pilot contracting sugarcane growers to stop dissolved organic nitrogen pollution, while simultaneously saving money for participating landowners. This investment has led to an estimated reduction of 700 tonnes of nitrogen flowing into the Reef.
- September 2020 \$2 million to restore the Queensland's Bowling Green Bar Ramsar Wetland and adjoining creek catchments, to improve the quality of water flowing from the Burdekin catchment.
- **December 2020** \$6.1 million allocated through the Reef Trust to reduce fine sediment runoff in the Burnett River catchment. The projects are projected to prevent 16,000 tonnes of fine sediment from reaching the Reef.
- December 2020 \$10 million allocated to help kickstart the innovative Reef Credits scheme that, similar to carbon credits, allows landholders to derive additional income through the implementation of improved fertiliser management practices and management of eroded gullies. Credits generated from pollution reduction can be sold to sustainably minded external investors with the first tranches of Reef Credits from sugarcane farms in the Wet Tropics purchased by the Queensland Government and also the global finance institution HSBC.
- May 2021 \$30 million allocated through the Reef Trust to 6 major water quality projects that are projected to prevent at least 175 tonnes of dissolved inorganic nitrogen and 36,699 tonnes of fine sediment runoff.
- June 2021 the Queensland Government allocates an additional \$270 million to continue the Queensland Reef Water Quality Program to 2025-2026.
- January 2022 \$579.9 million announced by the the Australian Government, continuing to work with landowners on the Reef catchments on water quality improvement projects.

These investments and initiatives complement the existing suite of water quality programs that are still underway.

6.3 The Reef Trust Partnership

In 2018, the Australian Government announced the largest ever single investment in Reef protection through a \$443.3 million publicprivate partnership between the Australian Government's Reef Trust and the Great Barrier Reef Foundation.

This partnership includes a specific objective to mobilise capital at scale from private and institutional sources, to augment ongoing government and philanthropic funding, enable long-term impact and accelerate innovation. Internationally, investors are increasingly seeking opportunities for social and environmental outcomes, alongside market returns. The Partnership is developing Reeffocused finance solutions and identifying activities that can be funded wholly or in part by non-Government sources.

The Foundation has already leveraged the Australian Government's initial funding to raise an additional \$190 million from the private and philanthropic sectors. In 2022, at the mid-point of the Partnership, there are now over 425 partners working on 203 unique projects across the length of the Reef, which have produced the following:

• Improving the quality of water flowing into the Reef through on-ground measures in the highest priority catchments.

- Expanding the Crown-of-Thorns Starfish Control Program, in partnership with the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority and the Reef and Rainforest Research Centre, employing more than 100 professionally trained crew members.
- Delivering scientific breakthroughs through the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program. At its peak this program will engage 250 scientists from 32 different research bodies, with a goal of planting 10 million thermally tolerant corals by 2030.
- Supporting Reef decision-making by filling critical monitoring gaps, building a system to integrate Reef data, and developing next generation monitoring technologies.
- Co-designing and delivering the largest ever investment in Traditional Owner-led Reef protection activities.
- Inviting investors and donors around the globe to take an active part in Reef conservation efforts by contributing to Reef Recovery 2030, a signature initiative of the UN's Ocean Decade, which is the Foundation's fundraising campaign to turn the tide on coral reef decline.
- Seeding innovative financing pilots across terrestrial and marine based markets.
- Driving new technology and systems through dedicated innovation funds for Crown-of-Thorns Starfish control, Water Quality, Reef monitoring and Reef Restoration.



Reef rehabilitation Green Island: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA)

6.4 Strengthened water quality regulations

Since December 2019, the Queensland Government has been progressively strengthening regulations, under the Environment Protection Act 1994 (Qld) to address agricultural and industrial sources of water pollution flowing into the Great Barrier Reef. The regulations:

- Mandate **minimum practice agricultural standards** for sugarcane, grazing and bananas.
- Require development of **nitrogen and phosphorous budgets** for all sugarcane producers, to monitor and limit fertiliser usage and nutrient runoff.
- Introduce **new approval requirements** for new or expanded cropping (sugarcane, bananas, grains) and horticulture activities to prevent increased pollution loads.
- Introduce new discharge requirements for new, expanded or intensified industrial activities in the Reef catchments mandating no net increase in nitrogen or sediment discharge.
- Legislate water quality targets for each river basin in the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area as catchment load limits, used for decision making in planning and environmental frameworks.

The Queensland Government has reported that these regulations are already demonstrating outcomes, particularly for producers who are not voluntarily engaging in Reef programs. Compliance amongst this set of producers has improved by more than 20%, with all producers having made some improvements. The Queensland Government is also set to expand its compliance program, doubling effort over the next 5 years.

> Girringun Land and Sea Rangers undertaking revegetation: © The State of Queensland

restoration

6.5 Water quality monitoring

The Great Barrier Reef is one of the few marine sites on the World Heritage List that has an extensive suite of monitoring programs in place to measure and report on key indicators. These monitoring arrangements are an exemplar of compliance with the 'Process for monitoring the state of conservation of World Heritage properties outlined in the Operational Guidelines' (Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, WHC.19/01, Part IV).

The Reef monitoring programs provide a longterm source of data that enables the continuous assessment of the state of conservation of the Reef, contributing directly to Outlook Reports, State Party Reports, State of Environment reports and Reef 2050 Water Quality Report Cards.

The Great Barrier Reef Marine Monitoring Program surveys the health of inshore coral reefs and inshore seagrass and examines satellite images of floods and river plumes entering the Great Barrier Reef. Monitoring teams also collect field samples to measure pollutants (sediment, nutrients, pesticides), and link these and other pressures to effects observed on coral and seagrass meadows. This program has operated since 2005.

The Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program is the key enabler of resilience-based management under the Reef 2050 Plan. It draws together multiple environmental, social and economic monitoring and modelling programs as a joint partnership involving Australian and Queensland government entities, together with Traditional Owner members.

water

The Paddock to Reef Integrated Monitoring, Modelling and Reporting Program (Paddock to Reef program), jointly funded by the Australian and Queensland governments, provides a comprehensive framework for evaluating and reporting progress toward the Reef 2050 Water Quality Improvement Plan targets through the Reef water quality report card. The program unites more than 20 industry bodies, government agencies, Natural Resource Management bodies, landholders and research organisations—working together to measure and report on water quality factors that impact Reef health.

Currently, 12 core monitoring and modelling programs operating in Australian waters contribute to the overarching Program. Information sharing is enabled through the Reef Knowledge System – the online portal for the program, comprehensive governance and a collaboration agreement.

6.6 Future reviews to drive improvements

The Reef 2050 Water Quality Improvement Plan is reviewed and updated every 5 years with the current review due to be completed in 2023. The review will be underpinned by an updated independent Scientific Consensus Statement on water quality (the fourth update since 2002 is due for completion in late 2022). This will allow for adaptive management, in response to program evaluation and new data and research.

Electrofishing in the Russell River for the fish modelling which feeds into the Wet Tropics Waterway Health Report Card: © The State of Queensland

7 Addressing the impacts of a changing climate

44 COM 7B.90 Paragraph 6:

Noting the conclusion of the 2019 GBR Outlook Report that climate change remains the most serious threat to the property, and recognizing that action by the international community and all States Parties to the Convention is urgently required to address threats from climate change, considers that actions to build resilience of the property and address other factors remain of utmost importance.

44 COM 7B.90 Paragraph 7:

Urges the State Party to ensure that the revised Reef 2050 Plan, expected to be finalized in 2021, fully incorporates the conclusions of the 2019 GBR Outlook Report that accelerated action at all possible levels is required to address the threat from climate change, in accordance with the Paris Agreement on Climate Change (2015), and to urgently create opportunities for recovery of the property, in particular with regard to water quality.

44 COM 7B.90 Paragraph 9:

Also recalling Decision 41 COM 7 in which the Committee 'reiterate[d] the importance of States Parties undertaking the most ambitious implementation of the Paris Agreement of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) by 'holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and by pursuing efforts to limit the global average temperature increase to 1.5°C above preindustrial levels, recognizing that this would significantly reduce the risks and impacts of climate change', strongly invites all States Parties to undertake actions to address Climate Change under the Paris Agreement consistent with their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in the light of different national circumstances, that are fully consistent with their obligations within the World Heritage Convention to protect the OUV of all World Heritage properties.



The Reef Joint Field Management Program team maps the area for the Reef Bags coral rehabilitation trial at Bait Reef, for continued measured monitoring: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: Bridget Ferguson

7.1 Australia's action on climate change

Australia acknowledges that the biggest threat to the Reef is climate change, and that the most effective response to this threat is successful global action to reduce emissions.

The IPCC Sixth Assessment Report on climate science underscores the criticality of a coordinated, global effort to reduce emissions, and Australia is working to keep the Paris Agreement goal of limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees within reach. A key part of Australia's strategy for improving the long-term outlook for the Great Barrier Reef in the face of global climate change is through playing our part in contributing to global emissions reduction through the Paris Agreement. Australia shares the target of net zero emissions by 2050 with many other nations.

Australia has already reduced its emissions by more than 20% on 2005 levels – much higher than the OECD average over a similar period. The most recent projections show Australia is on track to cut our emissions by 30% on 2005 levels by 2030 and up to 35% in a hightechnology uptake scenario, well above our target of 26-28% (Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 2021). This is world-leading performance in emissions reductions.

Since 2019, significant global progress has been made in the form of commitments by most countries to reduce emissions on timeframes consistent with the Paris Agreement. The underlying technical frameworks to support achievement of these commitments were agreed at COP26.

Australia has been a constructive participant in these achievements and has revised its own Nationally Determined Contribution to reflect the commitment to achieving technology breakthroughs that will allow the necessary emissions reductions to occur, not just in Australia (which represents just 1.3% of global emissions) but globally⁴. This is important because Australia's efforts to reduce its own emissions would have virtually no impact on the long-term health and resilience of the Reef. By contrast, our efforts to improve water quality and human impacts in Australia can substantially improve the prospects and resilience of the Reef, and we have made significant progress in this regard.

Australia's Nationally Determined Contribution also affirms our net zero emissions by 2050 target, with 7 low emissions technology stretch goals and commitment to meeting the 2030 Paris target. Nearly every country has a commitment to achieve net zero by 2050 but far fewer have an action plan to deliver on this commitment. **Australia is one of the few nations who can say that we have all 3 ingredients for success: a target, a plan and delivery.**

Australia's Long-Term Emissions Reduction

Plan, released in October 2021, is our whole-of-economy action plan to achieve net zero emissions by 2050. The Long-Term Emissions Reduction Plan focuses on delivering the technological improvements that will not only deliver on net zero emissions by 2050 in Australia but have the maximum impact on the ability of all countries to rapidly reduce emissions. It builds on other successful government initiatives including the Renewable Energy Target and the Emissions Reduction Fund schemes.

4 Australia's Long-term Emissions Reduction Plan notes that 90% of commercial solar cells globally use Australian technology

Australia's approach is based on the principle that the fastest and most practical way to ensure the necessary global emissions reductions are able to be delivered, is to adopt known technologies and work with other countries to accelerate technological advancement. The Long-Term Emissions Reduction Plan focuses not only on reducing emissions domestically, but also on how we will play a global leadership role through our low emissions energy exports and contributions to innovation. Our commitment to act globally is visible in the work we do with Mission Innovation, the International Partnership for Hydrogen and Fuel Cells in the Economy, and in the 5 bilateral partnerships we have established. These agreements acknowledge that we cannot achieve our goals alone. They also address low emissions technology supply chain issues such as in steel and aluminium, from mine to furnace.

Australia launched its Low Emissions Technology Statement (LETS2021) at COP26 in Glasgow. LETS 2021 is the second milestone in Australia's Technology Investment Roadmap, and an important element of Australia's Long-Term Emissions Reduction Plan. It includes dedicated funding for programs to support its delivery, including hydrogen and Carbon Capture Use and Storage hubs, electric vehicle charging infrastructure deployment and policy to drive down the cost of renewable electricity. Australia is committed to adaptively expanding the remit of the Technology Investment Roadmap every year to optimally invest in evolving low emissions technologies, to reduce emissions as quickly as possible. The LETS 2021 adds ultra low-cost solar as a priority technology, introduces the category of enabling infrastructure and identifies new actions the Australian Government will take to establish Australia as a leader in low emissions technologies.

Through the 2 Low Emissions Technology Statements, Australia has identified 6 priority technologies and stretch goals:

- Clean hydrogen production under \$2 per kilogram.
- Low-cost solar electricity generation at \$15 per megawatt hour.
- Energy storage, electricity from storage for firming under \$100 per megawatt hour.
- Low emissions steel production under \$700 per tonne and low emissions aluminium production under \$2,200 per tonne.
- Carbon capture and storage, with CO₂ compression, hub transport and storage under \$20 per tonne of CO₂.
- Soil carbon measurement under \$3 per hectare per year.

The Australian Government has allocated more than \$3 billion over the last 2 years to support practical action on climate change and has committed to invest at least \$21 billion in low emissions technologies in the decade to 2030, driving more than \$84 billion in total public and private investment. These government investments leverage additional industry co-investment on average over \$3 for every \$1 of government investment over the decade to 2030.

Initiatives under the Technology Investment Roadmap will make a significant contribution to emissions reduction in Australia and globally. For example, steelmaking currently emits more greenhouse gas emissions than any other industrial subsector and is responsible for 7% of global greenhouse gas emissions. Australia only produces 0.3% of the world's primary steel, but we are the world's largest exporter of iron ore, with 53% of the global export market. Australia has an opportunity to reduce global steel production emissions by reducing our mining emissions through deploying zero emissions mining equipment and transport and exporting value-added products like beneficiated ores and hot briquetted iron. Leveraging these opportunities will support decarbonising our existing industries, provide jobs in regional areas and develop Australia as a world-leading supplier of low emissions steel products.

The technological progress that is occurring in Australia is genuinely ground-breaking. For example, the draft 2022 Integrated System Plan for the National Electricity Market (NEM) ⁵ describes the fact that the transformation towards renewable and distributed electricity in Australia is happening "at world-leading pace, while continuing to provide reliable, secure and affordable electricity to consumers", and that Australia has and is seeking "world-leading levels of renewable energy output, measured as a percentage of annual generation as well as instantaneously, period by period" (Australian Energy Market Operator 2021). The share of generation from wind and solar in Australia is 18%. This compares with an OECD average of 11% and a global average of 6.5%. More than half of Australia's electricity is projected to come from renewable sources by 2030. In a system where there is no neighbouring country grid to step into a failure, and no access to nuclear energy as a low emissions electricity source, these efforts are monumental. Australia's success in these endeavours will support stronger emissions reductions globally.

Australia also recognises that action must be taken to respond to the impacts of changes in climate that cannot be avoided. Australia's National Climate Resilience and Adaptation Strategy addresses the threat of climate change that is already expected to occur, even if temperatures are held to the Paris Agreement goals. In October 2021, Australia submitted its first Adaptation Communication to the UNFCCC and announced an increase in our 2020-2025 climate finance to \$2 billion, supporting mitigation and adaptation efforts in our region.

At the local level, since 2015 the Queensland Government has invested over \$4 billion in climate action and committed to reducing Queensland's carbon emissions by 30% on 2005 levels by 2030 and achieving zero net emissions by 2050. The Queensland Government has launched its **Climate Action Plan** which is supported by \$2 billion Queensland Renewable Energy and Hydrogen Jobs Fund and \$22 million for the Borumba pumped hydro project business case.

The Queensland Government has launched the \$35 million **Natural Capital Fund,** which will facilitate private sector co-investment to generate both commercial and environmental market returns while also producing positive environmental, social and economic cobenefits, including improved water quality.

A further \$25 million for Round 2 of the **Land Restoration Fund** was launched in August 2021 and will prioritise projects in Great Barrier Reef catchments, including those with a regenerative agriculture focus. This round seeks to deliver co-benefits such as healthier waterways, increased habitat for threatened species, and more resilient landscapes and communities.

atural

Birds using constructed wetland in the Wet Tropics. Image Terrain NRM Source: GBRF and Queensland Government

5 Australian Energy Market Operator, Draft 2022 Integrated System Plan, December 2021

7.2 Assessing the risk of climate change on the Reef

The risk of climate change to the Great Barrier Reef was recognised by the Australian Government as early as 2007 when the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority released Climate change and the Great Barrier Reef: a vulnerability assessment. This was followed in 2009, with release of the report The implications for climate change for World Heritage properties in Australia, developed by the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation.

This report provides a high-level climate vulnerability assessment for each Australian World Heritage property. For the Great Barrier Reef, the risk assessment suggested that coral bleaching could become an annual event and that 'catastrophic' exposure of some reefs to climate change impacts could be evident by 2050. It also noted that the Reef has the capacity to recover from disturbances, depending on a variety of factors.

In July 2019, the Reef Authority released its position statement on climate change:

'Climate change is the greatest threat to the Great Barrier Reef. Only the strongest and fastest possible actions to decrease global greenhouse gas emissions will reduce the risks and limit the impacts of climate change on the Reef. Further impacts can be minimised by limiting global temperature increase to the maximum extent possible and fast-tracking actions to build Reef resilience.'

The updated Reef 2050 Plan has been tailored to respond to these climate change risks, providing a comprehensive program of corrective measures.

7.3 Reef resilience and adaptation to climate change impacts

Parallel to our action through the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement, Australia actively supports work under the mandate of the World Heritage Convention to ensure that all properties under threat from climate change are afforded appropriate protection.

Australia has been, and will continue to be, constructively engaged in the update to the World Heritage Climate Change Policy. Australia considers it is crucial we have an updated Climate Policy in place to provide a structured, equitable and transparent approach that can be applied across all properties.

The updated Reef 2050 Plan acknowledges the importance of climate change to the future of the Reef, including the challenge of limiting global temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels, and the anticipated impact of climate change on coral reefs at global temperatures of 1.5°C and 2°C above pre-industrial levels. It states that '[t]he long-term outlook for the Reef is critically dependent on limiting global temperature rise to the maximum extent possible, as quickly as possible'.

Australia went to UNFCCC COP26 delivering on the adaptation commitments made in our 2020 Nationally Determined Contribution. Australia released our new National Climate Resilience and Adaptation Strategy 2021-25 which positions Australia to better anticipate, manage and adapt to climate change and sets Australia on the path toward deeper cooperation, knowledge, and capacity sharing with our international partners. This reflects the understanding of the need to take action to respond to climate changes that cannot be avoided. Our efforts to improve water quality, reduce the destructive impacts of Crown-of-Thorns Starfish outbreaks, and improve the sustainability of other human uses in Australia, will directly and substantially improve the prospects and resilience of the Reef.

Under the Emission Reduction Fund (ERF) the first blue carbon program will create opportunities to store carbon by restoring mangroves and tidal marshes and reducing emissions in coastal ecosystems. This program is supported by the Queensland Government's Land Restoration Fund. Nature-based solutions are part of our response to climate change. The Great Barrier Reef was recognised by UNESCO as one of the world's most powerful blue carbon sites, home to the world's largest seagrass ecosystem which alone hosts an estimated 11% of the world's seagrass blue carbon. By protecting and restoring key ecosystems like seagrass meadows, mangroves and wetlands, these ecosystems can play a key role in combating climate change by storing carbon as well as delivering biodiversity and community benefits.

Australia is also safeguarding our oceans to help address climate change. We have announced a \$100 million Oceans Leadership Package, to invest in protecting oceans and supporting blue carbon habitats and ecosystems and contributing to emissions reduction. This initiative will store carbon through restoration of mangroves and tidal marshes and reduce methane and nitrous oxide emissions. At a global level Australia is a member of the High Level Panel for a Sustainable Ocean Economy, the High Ambition Coalition for Nature and People and the Global Ocean Alliance. Australia is also a founding member of the International Coral Reef Initiative - working in partnership for the protection of coral reefs for over two decades.

At the local scale, the Queensland Government has funded 31 local governments under the **QCoast2100 program**, and 47 local governments under the **Queensland Climate Resilient Councils program** to plan for and respond to climate change.

At a property scale, the \$150 million **Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program** is currently investigating and piloting new ways to help coral reefs adapt to climate change. The Program is researching and testing possibilities such as seeding reefs with coral larvae that are more resilient to warmer waters; improving coral larvae survivability; and a concept to shade and cool large areas of reef at risk of bleaching by spraying microscopic saltwater droplets into the air to make clouds more reflective of sunlight. The Australian Government's recent announcement of an additional \$92.7 million for the program will further develop and scale up these initiatives.

In 2018, the joint World Heritage Centre-Great Barrier Reef Foundation *Resilient Reefs Initiative* was launched – supporting resilience-based management in the face of climate change pressures and responding to Decision 41 COM 7. The Reef Authority and Australia's Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program partners have shared their worldleading expertise as part of the initiative, as well as chairing Resilience-Based Management and Reef Restoration committees under the International Coral Reef Initiative.

> Indigenous Land and Sea Rangers: © The State of Queensland

ambitio

7.4 Potential 'in danger' listing from climate change

The World Heritage Convention is at a critical juncture in relation to how it responds to the contemporary challenges facing World Heritage properties caused from climate change challenges that were not foreseen when the Convention was drafted in 1972. When the Convention was drafted some 50 years ago, the List of World Heritage in Danger was conceived as a tool to draw attention to threats to World Heritage Properties, and garner support for the relevant State Party to respond to those threats through a program of corrective measures that would allow the property to be removed from the List.

The International Union for Conservation of Nature's 2020 World Heritage Outlook 3 identified 83 World Heritage properties worldwide that are at 'high or very high threat' from climate change, including the Great Barrier Reef. The World Heritage Marine Programme's updated 2018 assessment of the impacts of climate change on World Heritage coral reefs revealed that 25 of the 29 World Heritage reefs are projected to bleach twice per decade by 2040, under a business-as-usual CO2 emissions scenario.

Under the current Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention all World Heritage properties could theoretically be inscribed on the List of World Heritage in Danger because they are 'faced with major threats which *could have* deleterious effects on [their] inherent characteristics', such as the 'threatening impacts of climatic, geological or other environmental factors', which is the threshold for inscription under the potential danger criterion for natural properties (paragraph 180 (b)(v)). While the List of World Heritage in Danger remains a relevant and important tool where corrective measures can be undertaken by individual States Parties to address threats to their World Heritage properties that they can control, it is less instructive where the ongoing impacts of a threat are beyond the control of any individual State Party to address, and where changes to the OUV of a property as a result of climate change will continue for many decades. For climate-impacted properties there may be no prospect of removal from the List regardless of the level of investment or the extent of the program of corrective measures implemented by any individual State Party.

This raises important questions about how to differentiate properties that are in danger through lack of action by a States Party to address threats to its OUV, relative to properties that are in danger as a result of the ongoing impacts of climate change.

It also highlights the lack of guidance under the Convention to manage changing OUV. There are likely to be circumstances where World Heritage listing is still appropriate but the values for which a property was initially listed are changing as a result of the impacts of climate change.

Through its 50 years of operation, the Convention has brought together States Parties to deliver protection of the places that are most important to all of humankind. Many of these places are now facing the global threat of climate change. It is only through collective effort that this threat can be addressed and the Outstanding Universal Value of these places, and their integrity, can be protected.

inable strategy

Water testing of creek beside sugarcane field near Cairns: © The State Of Queensland

8 Other conservation issues identified by the State Party which may have an impact on the property's Outstanding Universal Value

This section provides an overview of other conservation efforts to protect the Outstanding Universal Value of the Reef.

8.1 Support for more sustainable fishing

The 2019 Outlook Report identified fishing as the largest extractive use of the Great Barrier Reef. It revealed five high risks (extraction from spawning aggregations, discarded catch, extraction of particle feeders, extraction of predators and damage to reef structure) and two very high risks (illegal fishing and poaching, and incidental catch of species of conservation concern) to the ecosystem values. The sustainability of some species that are targeted, either directly or indirectly, is of concern. These include Spanish mackerel, saucer scallop, pink snapper and by-catch of some species of conservation interest.

The 2019 Outlook Report also noted that fishery management is improving, with the implementation of the Queensland Sustainable Fisheries Strategy 2017-2027. This strategy represents the largest fisheries reform in Queensland's history, **delivering on the commitments under the Reef 2050 Plan**. The Queensland Government remains committed to delivering the balance of the commitments as outlined in the Strategy by 2027. To support these continued reforms, the Queensland Government has provided a further \$42.5 million in funding over the next four years.

The Australian and Queensland governments are committed to ensuring that the Reef's fisheries are sustainable and supported to adopt leading practices. Since 2020 the Australian Government has assessed and managed approvals for eight commercial fisheries operating in the area of the Great Barrier Reef. For example, the Queensland Coral Fishery was recently reviewed and assessed under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (Cth), and conditions on operation of the fishery have been tightened - including stringent new harvest limits and reporting requirements.

The Queensland Government is implementing a suite of fundamental fisheries management changes that will provide for improved fisheries management and conservation outcomes. These range from setting catch limits to identifying and mitigating risks of specific fisheries. This includes limiting take of saucer scallop and introducing spawning closures for pink snapper.

The Australian and Queensland governments have been investing with partners, including the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, the Great Barrier Reef Foundation and the broader science community, and have made significant progress to enhance the sustainability of fishing operations over the last two years. For example:

- Vessel tracking required for all commercial vessels.
- Recreational fishing quota for 16 species.
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commercial Fishing Development policy has been introduced to support the aspirations of Traditional Owners through fishing.
- Increase in funding to support ecological risk assessments, development of harvest strategies, joint compliance operations and stock assessments.
- Investing with partners in fisheries-specific climate change research and monitoring, minimising interactions with protected species along with continual improvement in accurate and timely reporting, fishing practice and mitigation strategies.
- The Australian Government's recent \$1 billion funding commitment for the Reef, ensures that these activities will be further extended and accelerated.

8.2 Control of the Crown-of-Thorns Starfish

Outbreaks of Crown-of-Thorns Starfish (COTS) can cause substantial coral declines across much of the Reef. They also reduce the ability of the Reef to recover from tropical cyclones and coral bleaching events.

COTS control provides significant ecological and economic benefits to the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area and the industries and communities that rely upon it. By supporting the ability of the Reef to recover, COTS control can mitigate against the cumulative and escalating impacts of climate change. Investment in COTS control complements other initiatives under the Reef 2050 Plan, including water quality improvements and initiatives being developed under the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program.

When it commenced in 2012, the COTS Control Program focused on localised, site-level culling to protect key tourism reefs. During the past decade, advances in our understanding of COTS outbreak dynamics, combined with improved approaches to prioritise reefs and detect and cull COTS, mean that it is now feasible to suppress outbreaks and protect coral across broad and ecologically-relevant scales. No other current management intervention can deliver this scale of outcome. Targeted control of COTS is now widely regonised as an effective, scalable, costefficient action that can effectively suppress COTS outbreaks and protect coral across entire reefs and at regional scales. This has been confirmed by findings from the COTS Control Program and the Australian Institute of Marine Science Long-Term Monitoring Program. Importantly, these positive coral protection outcomes have been achieved during a period of unprecedented impacts from a series of three mass coral bleaching events.

Research and innovation under the COTS Control Innovation Program – another initiative supported through the Australian Government's Reef Trust Partnership – will ensure the COTS Control Program continues to improve into the future as a flagship Reef resilience activity.

Increased funding for the COTS Control Program has been secured through the Australian Government's \$1 billion Reef protection package. The increased funding for COTS control responds directly to a key threat identified in the 2019 Outlook Report.

> Crown of thorns starfish Cull: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA)

8.3 Intervention and restoration of key habitats to support threatened species

The Reef Joint Field Management Program delivers world class conservation actions to protect and recover important values, including coral reefs, coral cays, islands and threatened species.

Significant efforts are underway to protect the nesting habitats of shorebirds, seabirds and marine turtles. For example, collaborative work on Raine Island, the most globally significant green turtle nesting site, is helping to restore critical nesting habitat through beach reprofiling. In 2020 the green turtle egg hatchling success was the highest in recent seasons at 74% across the island, with the restored nesting areas having higher success than unmodified areas. The project recently won the Queensland Premier's Award for Excellence in the Environment and Culture division. It was also highly commended in the 2021 Queensland Reconciliation Awards for its integral collaboration with the Wuthathi and Meriam Nation (Ugar, Mer, Erub) Traditional Owners.

The Queensland Government's \$12 million Reef Assist program commenced in September 2020. This program has dual aims of creating alternative employment opportunities in highly tourism dependent regions impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, while delivering much-needed land management projects that contribute environmental outcomes, including those linked to protecting the Great Barrier Reef. Activities being undertaken in these projects include streambank rehabilitation; gully remediation; soil condition improvement; threatened species habitat restoration; wetland restoration; tree planting; marine debris cleanups; coral monitoring; and pest and weed management. The program has delivered 11 projects in the Wet Tropics, Burdekin, and Mackay-Whitsunday regions.

8.4 Working in partnership with Traditional Owners

The Indigenous Heritage Values of the Great Barrier Reef are significant and the Reef's Traditional Owners have a continuous cultural connection stretching back over 60,000 years, long before the formation of the Reef as we currently know it.

The Reef 2050 Plan acknowledges the significance of this connection. Since the 2019 State Party Report, further progress has been made to strengthen the involvement of the Reef's Traditional Owners in the management of the Reef including:

- Continuing to deliver the largest single investment in Traditional Owner Reef protection through the Reef Trust Partnership, with a total of \$52.8 million including:
 - A recent announcent of \$74.4 million for Traditional Owner and community-based protection work.
 - Awarding 42 grants to Traditional Owner groups for a range of water quality, Crown-of-Thorns Starfish control, Reef restoration and adaptation science and integrated monitoring activities.
 - Involving over 570 Indigenous children in junior ranger activities.
 - Supporting leadership and capacity building projects focusing on women and youth leadership.
 - Launching the Crown-of-Thorns Starfish Manual Control and Leadership Program, to deliver qualifications and leadership skills to a cohort of Traditional Owners.
- Accreditation of the Darumbal Traditional Use of Marine Resources Agreement. The accreditation is in place until 2037 and will be implemented in partnership with Darumbal Traditional Owners, the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority and Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service. The Agreement covers an area of 36,606 km² and more than 40% of the Great Barrier Reef Coastline is now managed under Traditional Use of Marine Resources Agreements or Indigenous Land Use Agreements.

- Increasing the number of Indigenous Land and Sea Rangers working on the Great Barrier Reef as part of a doubling of the Queensland Government's Land and Sea Country program. Under this program 39 new rangers have been employed in 2021.
- Investing an additional \$9 million for Traditional Owner led projects to protect and manage the Reef, including coastline management, weed and feral animal control, Indigenous fire management and protection of threatened species.
- The handback by the Queensland Government of over 160,000 hectares of the Daintree, Ngalba-bulal, Kalkajaka and the Hope Islands National Parks to the Eastern Kuku Yalanji people in September 2021.
- Establishing the Australian Institute of Marine Science's Indigenous Partnerships Policy which outlines their commitment to engagement and formal partnerships with Traditional Owners.

8.5 Tackling plastic waste

Queensland's Plastic Pollution Reduction Plan

sets the direction for Queensland to be part of the global solution to plastic pollution. One of the headline actions in the Plan is to enact a ban on the supply of specific single-use plastic items. The first phase of this ban commenced on 1 September 2021, with a ban on the supply of straws, cutlery, unenclosed bowls and plates, stirrers, and expanded polystyrene takeaway food containers and cups. The Queensland Government is consulting on expanding the ban in 2022 to include other single-use plastic items such as takeaway coffee cups and lids, drinking cups, magazine wrapping, fruit and vegetable bags and expanded polystyrene fruit and meat trays.

The Queensland Government **Community Sustainability Action grants** provide \$18 million over six years to eligible community groups and individuals for innovative projects. In July 2021 a total of 28 projects were successful in applying for more than \$1.1 million in grant funding for projects which seek to reduce the amount of waste going to landfill and/or litter and marine debris in the environment. This funding will support community groups, universities and organisations to clean up litter hotspots, roll out the latest waste-catching technology and educate the community about the importance of cleaning up our beaches, rivers and creeks.



Water quality sampling at lower Liverpool Creek for the Wet Tropics Major Integrated Project: © Terrain NRM Source: Queensland Government 9 Potential major restorations, alterations and/or new construction(s) intended within the property, the buffer zone(s) and/or corridors or other areas, where such developments may affect the Outstanding Universal Value of the property, including authenticity and integrity.

9.1 Quarterly reporting

In 2011 Australia formalised a procedure for providing quarterly notification reports to the World Heritage Centre of proposed developments within or outside a property that may impact upon a property's Outstanding Universal Value. Under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth)* (EPBC Act), any action with a significant action on the Reef requires approval from the federal Environment Minister.

Notification reports and a full list of proposed, approved and withdrawn actions relating to the property that require consideration under the national EPBC Act are available at: awe.gov.au/parks-heritage/heritage/about/ world/notification-development-proposals.

> Reef rehabilitation Green Island: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA)

APPENDIX A:

References

Australian Department of Environment and Energy 2019, State Party Report on the State of Conservation of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area (Australia), *Report in response to the World Heritage Committee Decision 41COM 7B.24*, Canberra.

Australian Energy Market Operator 2021, Draft 2022 Integrated System Plan for the National Electricity Market, Australia.

Australian Government & AIMS 2021, Annual Summary Report of Coral Reef Condition 2020/2021, Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville.

Australian Government & Queensland Government 2017, Reef 2050 Water Quality Improvement Plan, State of Queensland.

Australian Government & Queensland Government 2020, Reef 2020 Water Quality Improvement Plan; Paddock to Reef, State of Queensland.

Australian Government & Queensland Government 2020, Reef 2020 Water Quality Improvement Plan; Report Card 2019, State of Queensland.

Australian Government & Queensland Government 2021, Reef 2050 Long-Term Sustainability Plan 2021-2025, Canberra.

Australian Government 2021, Australia's Long-Term Emissions Reduction Plan; A whole-of-economy Plan to achieve net zero emissions by 2050, Canberra.

Australian Government 2021, National Climate Resilience and Adaptation Strategy 2021-2025, Canberra.

AIMS 2021a, Long-Term Monitoring Program Annual Summary Report of Coral Reef Condition 2020/2021, Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville.

AIMS 2021b, Long-term monitoring program regional reef fish summaries, Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville.

ANU Fenner School of Environment and Society, Australian Department of Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts & Australian Department of Climate Change 2009, Implications of climate change for Australia's world heritage properties a preliminary assessment, Canberra.

Bell, IP, Meager, JJ, Eguchi, T, Dobbs, KA, Miller, JD & Madden Hof, CA 2020, Twenty-eight years of decline: Nesting population demographics and trajectory of the north-east Queensland endangered hawksbill turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*), Biological Conservation, Volume 241.

Booth, D, Dunstan, A, Bell, I, Reina, R & Tedeschi, J 2020, Low male production at the world's largest green turtle rookery, *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 653: 181-190. Brooks, L, Cagnazzi, D, Beasley, I & Rankin, R 2019, Monitoring coastal dolphins within the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: Final Report of the Dolphins Team in the Megafauna Expert Group, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Butler, J, Tawake, A, Skewes, T, Tawake, L & McGrath, V 2012, 'Integrating traditional ecological knowledge and fisheries management in the Torres Strait, Australia: The catalytic role of turtles and dugong as cultural keystone species', *Ecology and Society* 17(4): 34.

Clean Energy Regulator 2018, Renewable Energy Target RET, Australian Government, Canberra.

Clean Energy Regulator 2021, About the Emissions Reduction Fund, Australian Government, Canberra.

Coles, R, Rasheed, M, McKenzie, L, Grech, A, York, P, Sheaves, M, McKenna, S & Bryant, C 2015, The Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area seagrasses: Managing this iconic Australian ecosystem resource for the future, *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, vol. 153, A1-A12.

Commonwealth of Australia 2021, Reef 2050 Long-Term Sustainability Plan 2021-2025, Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment, Canberra.

Commonwealth of Australia & State of Queensland 2015, Great Barrier Reef Intergovernmental Agreement 2015, Australia.

Congdon, B.C 2019, 'Seabirds' pp. 419–429 in Hutchins P, Kingsford M, Hoegh-Guldberg O, (editors) *The Great Barrier Reef: biology, environment and management,* 2nd edition, CSIRO Publishing, Australia.

Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment 2021, World Heritage Committee notification of development proposals, Canberra.

Department of Environment and Science 2021a, Marine Turtle Breeding and Migration Atlas, Queensland.

Department of Environment and Science 2021b, Marine Wildlife Strandings (StrandNet), Queensland.

Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 2021, Australia's Long-Term Emissions Reduction Plan, Canberra.

Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 2021, Australia's emissions projections 2021, Canberra.

Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 2021, Technology Investment Roadmap: Low Emissions Technology Statement 2021, Canberra.

Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 2021, Technology Investment Roadmap: A strategy to deploy and develop low emissions technologies, Canberra.

Fine, M, Hoegh-Guldburg, O, Meroz-Fine, E & Dove, S 2019, Ecological changes over 90 years at Low Isles on the Great Barrier Reef, *Nature communications*, 10(1), 1-8.

Geoscience Australia 2021, DEA Mangrove Canopy Cover (Landsat), Australia.

Great Barrier Reef Foundation 2022, Great Barrier Reef Foundation - Great Barrier Reef Foundation, Australia.

Great Barrier Reef Foundation 2022, Restoring Reef Island Habitats; Restoring critical island habitats to protect ecosystems and save vulnerable species, Australia.

GBRMPA & Queensland Government 2020, Policy on Great Barrier Reef Interventions, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA & Queensland Government 2021, Tourism Management Action Strategy, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2019, Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2019, Position statement: Climate change, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2022, Marine Monitoring Program, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2022, Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2022, Reef Knowledge System, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2022, Traditional Use of Marine Resources Agreement, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA and Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service 2021, Field Management Program Annual Report 2020-21, Queensland.

Heron, S 2018, Impacts of Climate Change on World Heritage Coral Reefs: Update to the First Global Scientific Assessment, UNESCO World Heritage Centre, Paris.

IPHE 2022, International Partnership for Hydrogen and Fuel Cells in the Economy, Netherlands.

IUCN 2020, IUCN World Heritage Outlook 3: A Conservation Assessment of all Natural World Heritage Sites, International Union for the Conservation of Nature, Switzerland.

Johnson, J.E, Marshall, PA & GBRMPA 2007, Climate change and the Great Barrier Reef: a vulnerability assessment, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Marsh, H & Sobtzick, S 2015, Dugong dugon, The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, Switzerland.

Marsh, H, O'Shea, T & Reynolds, J 2011, 'Ecology and Conservation of the Sirenia: Dugongs and Manatees', *Cambridge University Press*. Marsh, H, Arraut, EM, Diagne, LK, Edwards, H & Marmontel, M 2017, 'Impact of climate change and loss of habitat on Sirenians', in *Marine Mammal Welfare: Human Induced Change in the Marine Environment and its Impacts on Marine Mammal Welfare*, ed. A. Butterworth, Springer, Cham, pp. 333-357.

Marsh, H, Collins, K, Grech, A, Miller, R & Rankin, R 2020, An assessment of the distribution and abundance of dugongs and in-water, large marine turtles along the Queensland coast from Cape York to Hinchinbrook Island, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

McKenna, S 2021a, 'Port of Townsville Seagrass Monitoring Program: 2020', James Cook University Publication, Centre for Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research (TropWATER), Cairns. McKenna, S 2021b, 'Port of Abbot Point Long-Term Seagrass Monitoring Program: 2020', James Cook University Publication, Centre for Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research (TropWATER), Cairns.

McKenzie, L, Collier, C, Langlois, L, Yoshida, R, Ulusitalo, M & Waycott, M 2021, Marine Monitoring Program: Annual Report for Inshore Seagrass Monitoring 2019–20, James Cook University Publication, Centre for Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research (TropWATER), Cairns.

McNeil, M, Firn, J, Nothdurf, L, Pearse, A, Webster, J & Roland Pitcher, C 2021, 'Inter-reef *Halimeda* algal habitats within the Great Barrier Reef support a distinct biotic community and high biodiversity', *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 5(5), 647-655.

Meager, J 2021, Threatened inshore dolphins in the far northern GBR: annual progress report for 2021, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Mission Innovation 2022, Mission Innovation, United Kingdom.

Osipova, E, Emslie-Smith, M, Osti, M, Murai, M, Åberg, U, Shadie, P 2020, IUCN World Heritage Outlook 3: A conservation assessment of all natural World Heritage sites, IUCN World Heritage Outlook 3 | IUCN Library System.

Preen and Marsh 1995, 'Response of dugongs to largescale loss of seagrass from Hervey Bay, Queensland, Australia', *Wildlife Research* 22: 507-519.

Queensland Government 2021, *Wild Duck Island Monitoring Program, Report on 2019 and 2020 Camera Grid Surveys*, Report provided to Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service, Queensland.

Reason, CL, Smith TM & Rasheed, MA 2021a, Seagrass habitat of Cairns Harbour and Trinity Inlet: Cairns Shipping Development Program and Annual Monitoring Report 2020, JCU Publication, Centre for Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research Publication 21/09, Cairns. Reason, CL 2021b, Seagrass habitat of Mourilyan Harbour: Annual Monitoring Report – 2020. Centre for Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research, JCU Publication 21/10, Cairns.

Smith, TM, Reason, C, McKenna S & Rasheed, MA 2021, Seagrasses in Port Curtis and Rodds Bay 2020 Annual long-term monitoring. Centre for Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research (TropWATER) Publication 21/16, James Cook University, Cairns.

State of Queensland 2017, Scientific Consensus Statement - Land Use Impacts on Great Barrier Reef Water Quality and Ecosystem Condition, Queensland.

Thompson, A, Costello, P, Davidson, J, Logan, M & Coleman, G 2021, Marine Monitoring Program: Annual Report for Inshore Coral Reef Monitoring: 2019-20, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Truii 2021, Reefonomics, Australia.

UNESCO 2020, UNESCO Marine World Heritage: Custodians of the globe's blue carbon assets, Paris, France.

UNESCO World Heritage Convention 2021, The Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, Paris, France. Van de Wetering, C 2021, Mackay-Whitsunday-Isaac Seagrass Monitoring 2017-2020: Marine Inshore South Zone, Centre for Trpical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research Publication 21/06, James Cook University, Cairns.

Woodworth, B, Fuller, R, Hemson, G, McDougall, A, Congdon, B & Low, M 2021, 'Trends in seabird breeding populations across the Great Barrier Reef', *Conservation Biology*, 35(3): 846-858.

York PH & Rasheed MA 2021, Annual Seagrass Monitoring in the Mackay-Hay Point Region – 2020 JCU Centre for Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research Publication 21/20, Cairns. 42 pp.

York PH, Macreadie, P & Rasheed, MA 2018, 'Blue Carbon stocks of Great Barrier Reef deep-water seagrasses', *Biology letters*, 14(12).

APPENDIX B:

World Heritage Committee Decision 44 COM 7B.90

The World Heritage Committee,

- Having examined Document WHC/21/44.COM/7B. Add;
- 2. Recalling Decisions 39 COM 7B.7 and 41 COM 7B.24, adopted at its 39th (Bonn, 2015) and 41st (Krakow, 2017) sessions, respectively;
- Commends the State Party for the strong and continued efforts to create conditions for the implementation of the Reef 2050 Long-term Sustainability Plan (Reef 2050 Plan), including through unprecedented financial commitments;
- 4. Notes with the utmost concern and regret the conclusions of the 2019 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report (2019 GBR Outlook Report) that the long-term outlook for the ecosystem of the property has further deteriorated from poor to very poor, that the deterioration of the ecological processes underpinning the Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of the property has been more rapid and widespread than was previously evident, and that the property has suffered significantly from mass coral bleaching events in 2016, 2017 and 2020;
- 5. Also notes with the utmost concern that despite many positive achievements, progress has been largely insufficient in meeting key targets of the Reef 2050 Plan, in particular the water quality and land management targets, as evidenced by the conclusions of the 2017-2018 and 2019 Reef Quality Report Cards;
- 6. Noting the conclusion of the 2019 GBR Outlook Report that climate change remains the most serious threat to the property, and <u>recognizing</u> that action by the international community and all States Parties to the Convention is urgently required to address threats from climate change, <u>considers</u> that actions to build resilience of the property and address other factors remain of utmost importance;
- 7. Urges the State Party to ensure that the revised Reef 2050 Plan, expected to be finalized in 2021, fully incorporates the conclusions of the 2019 GBR Outlook Report that accelerated action at all possible levels is required to address the threat from climate change, in accordance with the Paris Agreement on Climate Change (2015), and to urgently create opportunities for recovery of the property, in particular with regard to water quality;

- 8. Requests the State Party to invite a joint World Heritage Centre/IUCN Reactive Monitoring centred around ensuring that the revised Reef 2050 Plan addresses the threat posed to the property by climate change and determines a pathway for accelerated actions in other areas affecting the conservation of the property;
- 9. Also recalling Decision 41 COM 7 in which the Committee "reiterate[d] the importance of States Parties undertaking the most ambitious implementation of the Paris Agreement of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) by "holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and by pursuing efforts to limit the global average temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels, recognizing that this would significantly reduce the risks and impacts of climate change", strongly invites all States Parties to undertake actions to address Climate Change under the Paris Agreement consistent with their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in the light of different national circumstances, that are fully consistent with their obligations within the World Heritage Convention to protect the OUV of all World Heritage properties;
- **10. Further requests** the State Party to submit to the World Heritage Centre, by **1 February 2022**, an updated report on the state of conservation of the property and the implementation of the above, for examination by the World Heritage Committee at its 45th session.

APPENDIX C:

Map of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area

Figure 1 Map of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area and catchment



The World Heritage Area includes all waters seaward of the low water mark, including those around 12 trading ports, and about 1,050 islands. Appendix B describes the difference between the World Heritage Area, the Great Barrier Reef Region and the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park.

APPENDIX D:

Long-term Monitoring Program Annual Summary Report on Coral Reef Condition 2020/2021 (Australian Institute of Marine Science 2021)

A 'QUICK LOOK' AT THE LONG-TERM MONITORING PROGRAM ANNUAL SUMMARY REPORT ON CORAL REEF CONDITION 2020/2021

Reef in recovery window after decade of disturbances

For 35 years, the Australian Institute of Marine Science has surveyed the condition of selected reefs across the Great Barrier Reef (GBR). This program, called the Long-Term Monitoring Program (LTMP), comprises an essential resource for governments and agencies involved in the management and protection of the GBR.

Results are published annually. The latest edition, *Long-Term Monitoring Program - Annual Summary Report of Coral Reef Condition 2020/2021*, has just been released.

Researchers use hard coral cover as an indicator of the condition of each reef. The LTMP also estimates crown-of-thorns starfish populations, coral bleaching levels and fish numbers, including the commercially and recreationally important coral trout.

For this report, the perimeters of 127 reefs were surveyed between August 2020 and April 2021. Survey reefs are primarily on the mid to outer shelf of the GBR.

Overall findings

After a series of severe and widespread disturbances over the last decade, most of the coral reefs surveyed by AIMS this year are currently in a recovery window.

Hard coral cover increased across all three regions (Northern, Central and Southern) of the GBR since last year, indicating widespread recovery was underway.



Trends in the percentage of hard coral cover on the Northern, Central and Southern Great Barrier Reef from underwater surveys from the AIMS Long-Term Monitoring Program.

There were no major cyclones or prolonged heat stress events during the survey period, resulting in very little coral bleaching and, despite ongoing crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks in the Southern region, outbreaks decreased across much of the GBR, providing time for the reefs to continue recovery.

Increases in the percentage of hard coral cover across the GBR has largely been driven by fast-growing branching and table corals (*Acropora* species).

Percentage of hard coral cover was variable across the GBR:

- \circ 15 reefs had low (>0% 10%) coral cover
- 59 reefs had moderate (>10% 30%) coral cover
- 36 reefs had high (>30% 50%) coral cover
- 17 reefs had very high (>50% 75%) coral cover

Page 1 of 3

Impact of the 2020 mass bleaching event

In the summer of 2020, the GBR experienced a marine heatwave, which resulted in mass coral bleaching across much of the Marine Park. However, heating across the Marine Park was not uniform. Most of the survey reefs (101 out of 127) experienced accumulated heat stress likely to cause bleaching, but not mortality.

This agrees well with the LTMP observations that most reefs surveyed in 2021 appear to have undergone minimal coral mortality following the 2020 bleaching event.

The LTMP surveys a representative but small proportion of GBR reefs. There are reefs not surveyed which experienced levels of accumulated heat stress in 2020 where coral mortality would be expected.

What do our findings mean for the Great Barrier Reef?

This year's results show that recovery continues on the GBR, indicating coral reefs still have the capacity to recover during periods of low disturbance.

The current rate of recovery has been observed previously during the 35 years of the LTMP. However, over the past decade, instances of recovery have been arrested or reversed by frequent disturbances.

The predicted consequences of climate change, including more severe cyclones and more frequent and intense marine heatwaves, are now a reality as seen between 2014 and 2020. Periods of low disturbance, such as that seen in 2021, are becoming shorter, reducing the time for recovery. The recovery to date will be easily undone by the next severe tropical cyclone or widespread bleaching event.

Complementary detailed fixed site SCUBA surveys of reefs by the LTMP show much of the increase in coral cover is due to fast-growing table and branching corals (*Acropora* species). This group of corals are dominant on many reefs of the GBR and are important for creating habitats for fish and other marine life. However, they are also more susceptible to cyclones and coral bleaching and are the preferred food source of crown-of-thorns starfish. Future disturbances may quickly remove table and branching corals and cause a rapid decline in coral cover.

There are early indications that coral communities on some reefs are changing. In the Northern and Central regions, some outer shelf reefs that were once dominated by branching and table corals (*Acropora*) are now dominated by slower growing 'cauliflower' corals (*Pocillopora*), which may have implications for rates of recovery and biodiversity.

The Northern region – from Cape York to Cooktown

- The survey covered 54 reefs.
- Average hard coral cover was estimated at 27%, an increase from its most recent low point of 13% in 2017. The historical high for coral cover in this region was 32%, recorded in 1988.

There was much variation in hard coral cover between reefs in the Northern region. Several reefs had low coral cover, most had moderate to high coral cover and a few had very high coral cover.

Out of 32 reefs surveyed within the last two years, only six had decreased in hard coral cover, suggesting mortality from the 2020 bleaching event was minimal in the region.

There was little evidence of crown-of-thorns starfish activity in this area.

Hard coral cover in this region is showing strong recovery after significant coral losses due to the cumulative effects of severe tropical cyclones in 2014 and 2015, crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks and the 2016 mass bleaching event. Despite the recovery, coral cover has not yet reached 2013 pre-disturbance levels.

Page 2 of 3

The Central region - from Cooktown to Proserpine

- The survey covered 53 reefs.
- Average hard coral cover was estimated at 26%, an increase from the most recent average low of 14% in 2019. The highest regional average, recorded in 2016, was 29%.

Coral cover was variable among reefs in this region. Most reefs had low to moderate hard coral cover. There were many reefs with high hard coral cover and a few reefs had low or very high hard coral cover. Of the 30 reefs surveyed within the last two years, all but two reefs had increased in coral cover.

Large, rapid fluctuations in coral cover in this region are not unprecedented. In 2012, the region recorded its lowest coral cover of 11%, primarily due to Tropical Cyclone Yasi. By 2016, coral cover had reached a record high (29%), but then decreased to a record low in 2019 (14%), largely due to mass coral bleaching in 2016 and 2017 and crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks.

Despite outbreaks of crown-of-thorns starfish on many reefs in recent years, there were no outbreaks recorded on the survey reefs in the region this year, likely due to active removal of substantial numbers of starfish by the Crown-of-thorns Control Program in this area.

The Southern region – from Proserpine to Gladstone

- The survey covered 20 reefs.
- Average hard coral cover was estimated at 39%, up from the lowest level of 12% in 2011.

Coral cover between individual reefs was variable; however, there was a greater proportion of reefs with high coral cover than low or moderate, in contrast to the Northern and Central regions.

The Southern region has experienced the largest changes in coral cover since the start of the LTMP. Tropical Cyclone Hamish in 2009 decreased coral cover to a record low in 2011. A period of recovery brought coral cover to 37% in 2017, but this was reduced again in 2018 by crown-of-thorns outbreaks. The Southern GBR, which escaped the bleaching events of 2016 and 2017, was affected by the mass bleaching in 2020, but minimal coral mortality was observed on the survey reefs.

More information

- The full Annual Summary Report of Coral Reef Condition 2020/2021 is available online
- Learn more about the AIMS Long-Term Monitoring Program.
- Access the survey reports on the AIMS website.

For media enquiries, please contact media@aims.gov.au

https://www.aims.gov.au/

Page 3 of 3

APPENDIX E:

Key documents released since January 2019

Advisian 2020, Douglas Shoal Remediation Project: metocean data report (June 2019 to June 2020), Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Advisian 2020, Douglas Shoal remediation project: options analysis executive summary, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia.

Anthony, K, Helmstedt, K, Bay, L, Fidelman, P, Hussey, K, Lundgren, P, Mead, D., McLeod, I, Mumby, P, Newlands, M, Schaffelke, B, Wilson, K. & Hardisty, P 2020 'Interventions to help coral reefs under global change-A complex decision challenge', PLoS One, 15(8).

Australian Government & AIMS 2021, Annual Summary Report of Coral Reef Condition 2020/2021, Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville, accessed 24 January 2022.

Australian Government & Queensland Government 2020, Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program Annual Business Plan 2020-21, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Australian Government & Queensland Government 2021, Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program Annual Business Plan 2021-22, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Babcock, R & Bridge, T 2020, Supplementary Report to the Final Report of the Coral Reef Export Group: S1 Practical taxonomy for RIMReP Coral Reef Monitoring, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Baird, M., Mongin, M, Rizwi, F., Bay, L., Cantin, N., Morris, L. and Skerratt, J. 2021 'The effect of natural and anthropogenic nutrient and sediment loads on coral oxidative stress on runoff-exposed reefs', *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 168.

Bairos-Novak, K., Hoogenboom, M., van Oppen, M. and Connolly, R. 2021 'Coral adaptation to climate change: Meta-analysis reveals high heritability across multiple traits', *Global Change Biology*, 27(22).

Balu, V, Messmer, V., Logan, M., Hayashida-Boyles, A. and Uthicke, S. 2021 'Is predation of juvenile crown-of-thorns seastars (Acanthaster cf. solaris) by peppermint shrimp (Lysmata vittata) dependent on age, size, or diet?', *Coral Reefs*, 40(2), pp. 641-649.

Bay, L.K, and Howells, E.J., 2021, 'Mapping the future for coral reefs', *eLife*, vol. 10 (72978).

Bayliss, P & Fischer, M 2020, Indigenous participation in monitoring megafauna within the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: Final report of the Indigenous Participation Team in the Megafauna Expert Group, Great Barrier Marine Reef Park Authority, Townsville.

Benthuysen, J. A., Steinberg, C., Spillman, C. M. and Smith, G. A. 2021, Oceanographic drivers of bleaching in the GBR: from observations to prediction. Volume 4: Observations and predictions of marine heatwaves. Report to the National Environmental Science Program. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Benthuysen, J., Oliver, E., Chen, K. and Wernberg, T. 2020, 'Editorial: Advances in Understanding Marine Heatwaves and Their Impacts', *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *7*.

Berry, K., Hess, S., Clark, T., Wenger, A., Hoogenboom, M. and Negri, A. 2021, 'Effects of suspended coal particles on gill structure and oxygen consumption rates in a coral reef fish', *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 169.

Birkmanis, C., Partridge, J., Simmons, L., Heupel, M. and Sequeira, A. 2020, 'Shark conservation hindered by lack of habitat protection', *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 21.

Blackall, L. L., Dungan, A.M., Hartman, L.M., Van Oppen, M.J.H. 2020, 'Probiotics for corals', Microbiology Australia, 41(2).

Botte, E. S., Cantin, N. E., Mocellin, V. J. L., O'Brien, P. A., Rocker, M. M., Frade, P. R. and Webster, N. S. 2021, 'Reef location has a greater impact than coral bleaching severity on the microbiome of Pocillopora acuta', Coral Reefs.

Bozec, YM & Mumby, PJ 2019, Supplementary Report to the Final Report of the Coral Reef Expert Group: S7. Coral reef models as assessment and reporting tools for the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program – a review, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Brooks, L, Cagnazzi, D., Beasley, I., and Rankin, R 2019, Monitoring coastal dolphins within the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: Final Report of the Dolphins Team in the Megafauna Expert Group, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Brunner, C., Uthicke, S., Ricardo, G., Hoogenboom, M. and Negri, A. 2021, 'Climate change doubles sedimentationinduced coral recruit mortality', *Science of the Total Environment*, 768.

Buerger, P., Alvarez-Roa, C., Coppin, C., Pearce, S., Chakravarti, L., Oakeshott, J., Edwards, O. and van Oppen, M 2020, 'Heat-evolved microalgal symbionts increase coral bleaching tolerance', Science Advances, 6(20).

CA, Simpendorfer., MR, H. and D, K. 2021, 'Complex Human-Shark Conflicts Confound Conservation Action', Frontiers in Conservation Science, 2(35).

Cantin, N. E., Klein-Salas, E., Frade, P. 2021, Spatial variability in coral bleaching severity and mortality during the 2016 and 2017 Great Barrier Reef coral bleaching events, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Cantin, N.E., Baird, M.E., Morris, L.A., Ceccarelli, D.M., Mocellin, V.J.L., Ferarri, R., Mongin, M. & Bay, L.K, 2021 'Assessing the linkages between water quality and coral bleaching on the Great Barrier Reef', Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Canto, M., Fabricius, K., Logan, M., Lewis, S., McKinna, L. and Robson, B. 2021, 'A benthic light index of water quality in the Great Barrier Reef, Australia', Marine Pollution Bulletin, 169.

Carter, A., Collier, C., Lawrence, E., Rasheed, M., Robson, B. and Coles, R. 2021, 'A spatial analysis of seagrass habitat and community diversity in the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area', Scientific Reports, 11(1), pp. 22344. Castro-Sanguino, C., Bozec, Y., Callaghan, D., Vercelloni, J., Rodriguez-Ramirez, A., Lopez-Marcano, S., Gonzalez-Marrero, Y., Puotinen, M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O. and Gonzalez-Rivero, M. 2022, 'Coral composition and bottom-wave metrics improve understanding of the patchiness of cyclone damage on reefs', Science of the Total Environment, 804.

Castro-Sanguino, C., Ortiz, J., Thompson, A., Wolff, N., Ferrari, R., Robson, B., Magno-Canto, M., Puotinen, M., Fabricius, K. and Uthicke, S. 2021, 'Reef state and performance as indicators of cumulative impacts on coral reefs', Ecological Indicators, 123.

Ceccarelli, D., Evans, R., Logan, M., Mantel, P., Puotinen, M., Petus, C., Russ, G. and Williamson, D. 2020, 'Longterm dynamics and drivers of coral and macroalgal cover on inshore reefs of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park', Ecological Applications, 30(1).

Ceccarelli, D. McLeod, I, Boström-Einarsson, L, Bryan, S, Chartrand, K, Emslie, M, Gibbs, M, Gonzalez Rivero, M., Hein, M, Heyward, A, Kenyon, T, Lewis, B, Mattocks, N, Newlands, M, Schläppy, M, Suggett, D & Bay, L 2020, 'Substrate stabilisation and small structures in coral restoration', PLoS One, 15(10).

Chan, W., Oakeshott, J., Buerger, P., Edwards, O. & van Oppen, M. 2021, 'Adaptive responses of free-living and symbiotic microalgae to simulated future ocean conditions', *Global Change Biology*, 27(9).

Cheal, A & Emslie, MJ 2020, Supplementary report to the final report of the coral reef expert group: S3. Synopsis of current coral reef monitoring on the Great Barrier Reef, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Cheal, A. and Emslie, M. 2020, 'Counts of coral reef fishes by an experienced observer are not biased by the number of target species', Journal of Fish Biology, 97(4).

Collier, CJ, Langlois, L, Waycott, M & McKenzie, LJ 2021, Resilience in practice: development of a seagrass resilience metric for the Great Barrier Reef Marine Monitoring Program, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, 61pp.

Condie, S., Anthony, K., Babcock, R., Baird, M., Beeden, R., Fletcher, C., Gorton, R., Harrison, D., Hobday, A., Plaganyi, E. and Westcott, D, 2021, 'Large-scale interventions may delay decline of the Great Barrier Reef', Royal Society Open Science, 8(4).

Cornwall, C., Comeau, S., Kornder, N., Perry, C., Hooidonk, R., DeCarlo, T., Pratchett, M., Anderson, K., Browne, N., Carpenter, R., Diaz-Pulido, G., D'Olivo, J., Doo, S., Figueiredo, J., Fortunato, S., Kennedy, E., Lantz, C., McCulloch, M., Gonzalez-Rivero, M., Schoepf, V., Smithers, S. and Lowe, R. 2021, 'Global declines in coral reef calcium carbonate production under ocean acidification and warming', *PNAS*, 118(21).

Costa, M, Goddard, R., Fidelman, P., Helmstedt, K. J., Anthony, K., Wilson, K. A. & Beyer, H. 2021, 'Linking social and biophysical systems to inform long-term, strategic management of coral reefs', Pacific Conservation Biology, 27(2). Dawson, A., Santana, M., Miller, M. and Kroon, F. 2021, 'Relevance and reliability of evidence for microplastic contamination in seafood: A critical review using Australian consumption patterns as a case study', Environmental Pollution, 276.

• • • • • • • • •

Department of Agriculture and Fisheries 2019, Monitoring fisheries within the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: Final Report of the Fisheries Expert Group, Great Barrier Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Desbiens, A., Roff, G., Robbins, W., Taylor, B., Castro-Sanguino, C., Dempsey, A. and Mumby, P. 2021, 'Revisiting the paradigm of shark-driven trophic cascades in coral reef ecosystems', Ecology, 102(4).

Diaz-Pulido, G 2020, Supplementary report to the final report of the coral reef expert group: S2. Practical taxonomy for RIMReP Coral Reef Monitoring macroalgae, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Doyle, J & Uthicke, S 2021, 'Sensitive environmental DNA detection via lateral flow assay (dipstick)—A case study on corallivorous crown-of-thorns sea star (Acanthaster cf. solaris) detection', *Environmental DNA*, 3(2).

Dwyer, R., Krueck, N., Udyawer, V., Heupel, M., Chapman, D., Pratt, H., Garla, R. and Simpfendorfer, C 2020, 'Individual and Population Benefits of Marine Reserves for Reef Sharks', Current Biology, 30(3).

Dyer, M, Newlands, M, Bradshaw, E & Hernandez, S 2020, Stewardship in the Great Barrier Reef: A review of concepts and definitions of stewardship in the Great Barrier Reef applied to Reef health, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Emslie, M., Bray, P., Cheal, A., Johns, K., Osborne, K., Sinclair-Taylor, T. and Thompson, C. 2020, 'Decades of monitoring have informed the stewardship and ecological understanding of Australia's Great Barrier Reef', Biological Conservation, 252.

Erler, D., Farid, H., Glaze, T., Carlson-Perret, N. and Lough, J. 2020, 'Coral skeletons reveal the history of nitrogen cycling in the coastal Great Barrier Reef', Nature Communications, 11(1).

Erler, D., Rangel, M., Tagliafico, A., Riekenberg, J., Farid, H., Christidis, L., Scheffers, S. and Lough, J. 2020 'Can coral skeletal-bound nitrogen isotopes be used as a proxy for past bleaching?', Biogeochemistry, 151(1), pp. 31-41.

Evensen, N, Vanwonterghem, I., Doropoulos, C., Gouezo, M., Botte, E. S., Webster, N. S. and Mumby, P 2021, 'Benthic micro- and macro-community succession and coral recruitment under overfishing and nutrient enrichment', Ecology, 102(12).

Fabricius, K., Neill, C., Van Ooijen, E., Smith, J. and Tilbrook, B. 2020, 'Progressive seawater acidification on the Great Barrier Reef continental shelf', Scientific Reports, 10(1).

Ferrari, R., Lachs, L., Pygas, D. R., Humanes, A., Sommer, B., Figueira, W. F., Edwards, A. J., Bythell, J. C. and Guest, J. R. 2021, 'Photogrammetry as a tool to improve ecosystem restoration', Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 36(12). Fitzroy Partnership for River Health 2021, 2019-20 Report Card Fitzroy Basin Ecosystem Health Index, Queensland, accessed 24 January 2022.

Flores, F., Kaserzon, S., Elisei, G., Ricardo, G. and Negri, A. 2020, 'Toxicity thresholds of three insecticides and two fungicides to larvae of the coral', PeerJ, 8.

Flores, F., Marques, J., Uthicke, S., Fisher, R., Patel, F., Kaserzon, S. and Negri, A. 2021, 'Combined effects of climate change and the herbicide diuron on the coral Acropora millepora', Marine Pollution Bulletin, 169.

Frade, P., Glasl, B., Matthews, S., Mellin, C., Serrão, E., Wolfe, K., Mumby, P., Webster, N. and Bourne, D. 2020, 'Spatial patterns of microbial communities across surface waters of the Great Barrier Reef', Communications Biology, 3(1).

Fuller, Z., Mocellin, V., Morris, L., Cantin, N., Shepherd, J., Sarre, L., Peng, J., Liao, Y., Pickrell, J., Andolfatto, P., Matz, M., Bay, L. and Przeworski, M. 2020, 'Population genetics of the coral Acropora millepora: Toward genomic prediction of bleaching', Science, 369(6501).

GBRMPA & Queensland Government 2020, Policy on Great Barrier Reef interventions, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA & Queensland Government 2020, Reef Joint Field Management Program: business strategy summary 2020-2024, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA & Queensland Government 2021, Green Island Reef rehabilitation project: Project snapshot, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA & Queensland Government 2021, Reef Joint Field Management Program: annual business plan summary 2020-2021, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA & Queensland Government 2021, Reef Joint Field Management Program: Annual report summary 2019-2020, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2019, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Heritage Strategy for the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2019, Going Spearfishing in Far North Queensland, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, A Guide for current permit holders: essential reading for Great Barrier Reef Marine Parks permit holders, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Crown-of-thorns starfish Strategic Management Framework, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Give us a break: it helps not to take [poster], Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Going Spearfishing in the Keppels, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Going Spearfishing in the Whitsundays, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Lady Elliot Island Ecosystem Resilience Plan, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Position statement: Fishing, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Superyacht guide to the Whitsundays: prepared by the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, 2nd edition, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, The Great Barrier Reef: vast, beautiful, under pressure, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2020, Tourism Industry Activation and Reef Protection Initiative: highlights, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Great Barrier Reef Marine Monitoring Program quality assurance and quality control manual 2019-20, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Great Barrier Reef: Superyacht Cruising Guide, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Instructional Manual for Reef Guides – Middle School, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Instructional Manual for Reef Guides — Primary School, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Instructional Manual for Reef Guides — Senior school, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, John Brewer Reef (18-075): Site Plan, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Position statement: Water quality, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Priority Monitoring Gaps Prospectus: Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Science and Knowledge Needs for Management, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA 2021, Visiting the Whitsundays in the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area: A guide for recreational visitors (3rd edition), Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA, Australian Institute of Marine Science & CSIRO 2020, Reef snapshot: summer 2019-20, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

GBRMPA, Australian Institute of Marine Science & CSIRO 2021, Reef snapshot: summer 2020-21, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Gibbs, M 2021, 'Developing a regional-scale reef restoration activity for the tropics', Regional Environmental Change, 21(4).

Gibbs, M 2021, 'Technology requirements, and social impacts of technology for at-scale coral reef restoration', Technology in Society, 66.

Gladstone Healthy Harbour Partnership 2021, Gladstone Harbour Report Card 2020, Queensland, accessed 24 January 2022.

Goetze, J., Wilson, S., Radford, B., Fisher, R., Langlois, T., Monk, J., Knott, N., Malcolm, H., Currey-Randall, L., Ierodiaconou, D., Harasti, D., Barrett, N., Babcock, R., Bosch, N., Brock, D., Claudet, J., Clough, J., Fairclough, D., Heupel, M., Holmes, T., Huveneers, C., Jordan, A., McLean, D., Meekan, M., Miller, D., Newman, S., Rees, M., Roberts, K., Saunders, B., Speed, C., Travers, M., Treml, E., Whitmarsh, S., Wakefield, C. and Harvey, E. 2021, 'Increased connectivity and depth improve the effectiveness of marine reserves', Global Change Biology, 27(15).

Gonzalez-Rivero, M, Roelfsema, C, Lopez-Marcano, S, Castro-Sanguino,C, Bridge, T & Babcock, R 2020, Supplementary Report to the Final Report of the Coral Reef Expert Group: S6. Novel technologies in coral reef monitoring, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Gonzalez-Rivero, M., Beijbom, O., Rodriguez-Ramirez, A., Bryant, D., Ganase, A., Gonzalez-Marrero, Y., Herrera-Reveles, A., Kennedy, E., Kim, C., Lopez-Marcano, S., Markey, K., Neal, B., Osborne, K., Reyes-Nivia, C., Sampayo, E., Stolberg, K., Taylor, A., Vercelloni, J., Wyatt, M. and Hoegh-Guldberg, O. 2020, 'Monitoring of Coral Reefs Using Artificial Intelligence: A Feasible and Cost-Effective Approach', Remote Sensing, 12(3).

Gordon, T., Radford, A., Simpson, S. and Meekan, M. 2020, 'Marine restoration projects are undervalued', Science, 367(6478).

Gould, J, Smyth, D, Rassip, W, Rist, P & Oxenham, K 2021, 'Recognizing the contribution of Indigenous Protected Areas to marine protected area management in Australia', Maritime Studies, 20.

Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority and Queensland Government (2021) Reef Joint Field Management Program: Business Strategy Summary 2021-2025, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority and Queensland Government (2021) Tourism Management Action Strategy, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Gruber, R, Waterhouse, J, Logan, M, Petus, C. Howley, C, Lewis, S, Tracey, D, Langlois, L, Tonin, H, Skuza, M, Costello, P, Davidson, J, Gunn, K, Lefevre, C, Moran, D, Robson, B, Shanahan, M, Zagorskis, I, Shellberg, J & Neilen, A 2020, Marine Monitoring Program: Annual Report for Inshore Water Quality Monitoring 2018-19, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Hannan, K., Miller, G., Watson, S., Rummer, J., Fabricius, K. and Munday, P 2020, 'Diel p CO2 variation among coral reefs and microhabitats at Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef', Coral Reefs, 39(5).

Harding, H., Gordon, T., Wong, K., McCormick, M., Simpson, S. and Radford, A 2020, 'Condition-dependent responses of fish to motorboats', *Biology Letters*, 16(11).

Harrison, H., Bode, M., Williamson, D., Berumen, M. and Jones, G. 2020, 'A connectivity portfolio effect stabilizes marine reserve performance', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 117(41).

Hartman, L., van Oppen, M. and Blackall, L. 2020, 'Microbiota characterization of Exaiptasia diaphana from the Great Barrier Reef', Animal Microbiome, 2(1).

Hartman, L., van Oppen, M. and Blackall, L. 2020, 'The Effect of Thermal Stress on the Bacterial Microbiome of Exaiptasia diaphana', Microorganisms, 8(1).

Healthy Rivers to Reef Partnership 2021, The Mackay – Whitsunday – Isaac 2020 Report Card, Queensland, accessed 24 January 2022.

Høj L, Byrne M, Kroon F, Westcott D 2020, A Review of Biologically Based Control Technologies for Crown-of-Thorns Starfish: Options for Enhancing the Integrated Pest Management Approach. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Howe-Kerr, L, Bachelot, B, Wright, R, Kenkel, C, Bay, L & Correa, A 2020, 'Symbiont community diversity is more variable in corals that respond poorly to stress', Glob Chang Biol.

Jones, C & Brassil, W 2020, Douglas Shoal Remediation Project Environmental Monitoring: Baseline Survey 2 - Preliminary Fieldwork Report, prepared by BMT Pty Ltd for the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Jones, C, Toki, B, Heeley, B, Puk, L, Brassil, W & Richardson, D 2020, Douglas Shoal Remediation Project Pre-remediation Monitoring Report, prepared by BMT Pty Ltd for the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Jones, R., Fisher, R., Francis, D., Klonowski, W., Luter, H., Negri, A., Pineda, MC., Ricardo, G., Slivkoff, M. and Whinney, J. 2020, Risk Assessing Dredging Activities in Shallow-Water Mesophotic Reefs, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Jones, R., Giofre, N., Luter, H. M., Neoh, T. L., Fisher, R. and Duckworth, A. 2020, 'Responses of corals to chronic turbidity', Sci Rep, 10(1), pp. 4762.

Kennedy, E., Roelfsema, C., Lyons, M., Kovacs, E., Borrego-Acevedo, R., Roe, M., Phinn, S., Larsen, K., Murray, N., Yuwono, D., Wolff, J. and Tudman, P. 2021, 'Reef Cover, a coral reef classification for global habitat mapping from remote sensing', Scientific Data, 8(1).

Klein, E., Steinberg, C. and Cantin, N. 2021, Oceanographic drivers of bleaching in the GBR: from observations to prediction, in Volume 3: Development of a hazard map for the Great Barrier Reef to predict regions with a lower risk of persistent warming and coral bleaching. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns. Kleypas, J., Allemand, D., Anthony, K., Baker, A., Beck, M., Hale, L., Hilmi, N., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Hughes, T., Kaufman, L., Kayanne, H., Magnan, A., Mcleod, E., Mumby, P., Palumbi, S., Richmond, R., Rinkevich, B., Steneck, R., Voolstra, C., Wachenfeld, D. and Gattuso, J. 2021, 'Designing a blueprint for coral reef survival', Biological Conservation, 257.

Kroon, F. J., Berry, K. L. E., Brinkman, D. L., Kookana, R., Leusch, F. D. L., Melvin, S. D., Neale, P. A., Negri, A. P., Puotinen, M., Tsang, J. J., van de Merwe, J. P. and Williams, M. 2020, 'Sources, presence and potential effects of contaminants of emerging concern in the marine environments of the Great Barrier Reef and Torres Strait, Australia', Sci Total Environ, 719.

Kroon, F. J., Lefèvre, C. D., Doyle, J. R., Patel, F., Milton, G., Severati, A., Kenway, M., Johansson, C. L., Schnebert, S., Thomas-Hall, P., Bonin, M. C., Cameron, D. S. and Westcott, D. A. 2020, 'DNA-based identification of predators of the corallivorous Crown-of-Thorns Starfish (Acanthaster cf. solaris) from fish faeces and gut contents', Sci Rep, 10(1).

Kyne, P. M., Heupel, M., White, W. and Simpfendorfer, C. 2021, The Action Plan for Australian Sharks & Rays 2021, Marine Biodiversity Hub, Hobart.

L., Fairclough, D., Fisher, R., Gibbons, B., Harasti, D., Harvey, E., Heupel, M., Hicks, J., Holmes, T., Huveneers, C., lerodiaconou, D., Jordan, A., Knott, N., Malcolm, H., McLean, D., Meekan, M., Newman, S., Radford, B., Rees, M., Saunders, B., Speed, C., Travers, M., Wakefield, C., Wernberg, T. and Langlois, T. 2021, 'Effects of human footprint and biophysical factors on the body-size structure of fished marine species', Conservation Biology.

Langlais, C. E., Herzfeld, M., Klein, E., Cantin, N., Benthuysen, J. and Steinberg, C. 2021, Oceanographic drivers of bleaching in the GBR: from observations to prediction, in Volume 2: 3D Bleaching in the GBR: Development and analysis of a 3D climatology and 3D heat accumulation bleaching products using eReefs, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Ltd, Cairns.

Logan, M., Hu, Z., Brinkman, R., Sun, S., Sun, X. and Schaffelke, B. 2020, 'Ecosystem health report cards: An overview of frameworks and analytical methodologies', Ecological Indicators, 113.

Long Term Monitoring Program 2020, Annual Summary Report on Coral Reef Condition for 2019/20. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Australia.

Long Term Monitoring Program 2021, Annual Summary Report on Coral Reef Condition for 2020/21, Australian Institute of Marine Science, Australia.

Lowe, J., Payet, S., Harrison, H., Hobbs, J., Hoey, A., Taylor, B., Sinclair-Taylor, T. and Pratchett, M. 2021, 'Regional versus latitudinal variation in the life-history traits and demographic rates of a reef fish, Centropyge bispinosa, in the Coral Sea and Great Barrier Reef Marine Parks, Australia', Journal of Fish Biology, 99(5).

Luter, H. M., Andersen, M., Versteegen, E., Laffy, P., Uthicke, S., Bell, J. J. and Webster, N. S. 2020, 'Cross-generational effects of climate change on the microbiome of a photosynthetic sponge', Environ Microbiol, 22(11). Luter, H., Pineda, M., Ricardo, G., Francis, D., Fisher, R. and Jones, R. 2021, 'Assessing the risk of light reduction from natural sediment resuspension events and dredging activities in an inshore turbid reef environment', Marine Pollution Bulletin, 170.

Madin, E. M. P., Madin, J. S., Harmer, A. M. T., Barrett, N. S., Booth, D. J., Caley, M. J., Cheal, A. J., Edgar, G. J., Emslie, M. J., Gaines, S. D. and Sweatman, H. P. A. 2020, 'Latitude and protection affect decadal trends in reef trophic structure over a continental scale', Ecol Evol, 10(14).

Markwell & Associates Pty Ltd 2020, Toolkit for safeguarding Indigenous heritage and knowledge, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Marsh, H, Limpus, C, Meager, J, Moisel, A, Read, M, Salmon, S, Sobtzick, S 2020, Review and suggestions for upgrading StrandNet as a key element of the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: Final Report of the StrandNet Team in the Megafauna Expert Group, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Martins, A. P. B., Heupel, M. R., Bierwagen, S. L., Chin, A. and Simpfendorfer, C. 2020, 'Diurnal activity patterns and habitat use of juvenile Pastinachus ater in a coral reef flat environment', PLoS One, 15(2).

Martins, A., Heupel, M., Bierwagen, S., Chin, A. and Simpfendorfer, C. 2021, 'Tidal-diel patterns of movement, activity and habitat use by juvenile mangrove whiprays using towed-float GPS telemetry', Marine and Freshwater Research, 72(4).

Martins, A., Heupel, M., Oakley-Cogan, A., Chin, A. and Simpfendorter, C. 2020, 'Towed-float GPS telemetry: a tool to assess movement patterns and habitat use of juvenile stingrays', Marine and Freshwater Research, 71(1).

Marzonie, M., Flores, F., Sadoun, N., Thomas, M. C., Valada-Mennuni, A., Kaserzon, S., Mueller, J. F. and Negri, A. P. 2021, 'Toxicity thresholds of nine herbicides to coral symbionts (Symbiodiniaceae)', *Scientific Reports*, 11(1).

Matthews, S., Mellin, C., Pratchett, M. and Riegl, B. 2020, 'Larval connectivity and water quality explain spatial distribution of crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks across the Great Barrier Reef', Population Dynamics of the Reef Crisis.

Matthews, S., Shoemaker, K., Pratchett, M., Mellin, C. and Riegl, B. 2020, 'COTSMod: A spatially explicit metacommunity model of outbreaks of crown-of-thorns starfish and coral recovery', Population Dynamics of the Reef Crisis.

McKenzie, LJ, Collier, CJ, Langlois, LA, Yoshida, RL, Uusitalo, J & Waycott, M 2021, Marine Monitoring Program: Annual Report for Inshore Seagrass Monitoring 2018-19, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

McKenzie, LJ, Collier, CJ, Langlois, LA, Yoshida, RL, Uusitalo, J & Waycott, M 2021, Marine Monitoring Program: Annual Report for Inshore Seagrass Monitoring 2019–20, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville. Mellin, C, Anthony, K, Peterson, E, Ewels, C & Puotinen, M 2020, Supplementary report to the final report of the coral reef expert group: S4. Model to inform the design of a Reef Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Mellin, C., Peterson, E. E., Puotinen, M. and Schaffelke, B. 2020, 'Representation and complementarity of the long-term coral monitoring on the Great Barrier Reef', Ecol Appl, 30(6).

Miller, M, Hamann, M & Kroon, F 2020, 'Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of microplastics in marine organisms: A review and meta-analysis of current data', PLoS One, 15(10).

Morgans, C., Hung, J., Bourne, D. and Quigley, K. 2020, 'Symbiodiniaceae probiotics for use in bleaching recovery', *Restoration Ecology*, 28(2).

Muir, P., Done, T. and Aguirre, J. 2021, 'High regional and intrageneric variation in susceptibility to mass bleaching in Indo-Pacific coral species', Global Ecology and Biogeography, 30(9).

Negri, A. P., Smith, R. A., King, O., Frangos, J., Warne, M. S. J. and Uthicke, S. 2020, 'Adjusting Tropical Marine Water Quality Guideline Values for Elevated Ocean Temperatures', Environ Sci Technol, 54(2).

Negri, A.P., Templeman, S., Flores, F., van Dam, J., Thomas, M., McKenzie, M., Stapp, L., Kaserzon, S., Mann, R.M., Smith, R., Warne, M.St.J. and Mueller, J. 2020, Ecotoxicology of pesticides on the Great Barrier Reef for guideline development and risk assessments, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Nielsen, J, Kenkel, C, Bourne, D, Despringhere, L, Mocellin, V & Bay, L 2020, 'Physiological effects of heat and cold exposure in the common reef coral Acropora millepora', Coral Reefs, 39(2).

Nordborg, F, Jones, R, Oelgemoller, M & Negri, A 2020, 'The effects of ultraviolet radiation and climate on oil toxicity to coral reef organisms - A review', *Science of the Total Environment*, 720.

Oliver, E., Benthuysen, J., Darmaraki, S., Donat, M., Hobday, A., Holbrook, N., Schlegel, R., Sen Gupta, A., Carlson, C. and Giovannoni, S. 2021, 'Marine Heatwaves', *Annual Review of Marine Science*, Vol 13, 2021, 13, pp. 313-342.

Ortiz, J., Pears, R., Beeden, R., Dryden, J., Wolff, N., Cabrera, M. and Mumby, P. (2021) 'Important ecosystem function, low redundancy and high vulnerability: The trifecta argument for protecting the Great Barrier Reef's tabular Acropora', *Conservation Letters*, 14(5).

Payet, S. D., Lowe, J. R., Mapstone, B. D., Pratchett, M. S., Sinclair-Taylor, T. H., Taylor, B. M., Waldie, P. A. and Harrison, H. B. 2020, 'Comparative demography of commercially important species of coral grouper, Plectropomus leopardus and P. laevis, from Australia's great barrier reef and Coral Sea marine parks', J Fish Biol, 97(4), pp. 1165-1176. Peterson, E., Santos-Fernandez, E., Chen, C., Clifford, S., Vercelloni, J., Pearse, A., Brown, R., Christensen, B., James, A., Anthony, K., Loder, J., Gonzalez-Rivero, M., Roelfsema, C., Caley, M., Mellin, C., Bednarz, T. and Mengersen, K. 2020, 'Monitoring through many eyes: Integrating disparate datasets to improve monitoring of the Great Barrier Reef', *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 124.

Puotinen, M., Drost, E., Lowe, R., Depczynski, M., Radford, B., Heyward, A. and Gilmour, J. 2020, 'Towards modelling the future risk of cyclone wave damage to the world's coral reefs', Glob Chang Biol, 26(8), pp. 4302-4315.

Quigley, K, Randall, C, van Oppen, M & Bay, L 2020, 'Assessing the role of historical temperature regime and algal symbionts on the heat tolerance of coral juveniles', Biol Open, 9(1).

Quigley, K., Ramsby, B., Laffy, P., Mocellin V., Harris J., and Bay. L.K. 2021, The genetic traits of corals that survived recent bleaching events. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Ltd, Cairns.

Randall, C., Negri, A., Quigley, K., Foster, T., Ricardo, G., Webster, N., Bay, L., Harrison, P., Babcock, R. and Heyward, A. 2020, 'Sexual production of corals for reef restoration in the Anthropocene', Marine Ecology Progress Series, 635, pp. 203-232.

Razak, T. B., Roff, G., Lough, J. M. and Mumby, P. J. 2020, 'Growth responses of branching versus massive corals to ocean warming on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia', *Sci Total Environ*, 705.

Reef Joint Field Management Program 2021, Insight Stories: Issue 1, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Ricardo, G., Harper, C., Negri, A., Luter, H., Wahab, M. and Jones, R. 2021, 'Impacts of water quality on Acropora coral settlement: The relative importance of substrate quality and light', *Science of the Total Environment*, 777.

Richards, Z. Emslie, M., Gilmour, J., Thompson, A 2021, 2021 State of the Environment Report Marine Chapter – Expert Assessment – State and Trend – Coral reefs (<30m), Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment, Canberra.

Robson, B.J., Canto, M.M., McKinna, L.I., Logan, M., Lewis, S. and Fabricius, K.E. 2021, Benthic light as ecologicallyvalidated GBR-wide indicator for water quality: Drivers, thresholds and cumulative risks. Report to the National Environmental Science Program. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Rodriguez-Ramirez, A., Gonzalez-Rivero, M., Beijbom, O., Bailhache, C., Bongaerts, P., Brown, K., Bryant, D., Dalton, P., Dove, S., Ganase, A., Kennedy, E., Kim, C., Lopez-Marcano, S., Neal, B., Radice, V., Vercelloni, J., Beyer, H. and Hoegh-Guldberg, O. 2020, 'A contemporary baseline record of the world's coral reefs', *Scientific Data*, 7(1).

Roelfsema, C., Kovacs, E., Ortiz, J., Callaghan, D., Hock, K., Mongin, M., Johansen, K., Mumby, P., Wettle, M., Ronan, M., Lundgren, P., Kennedy, E. and Phinn, S. 2020, 'Habitat maps to enhance monitoring and management of the Great Barrier Reef', Coral Reefs, 39(4), pp. 1039-1054. Roelfsema, C., Kovacs, E., Vercelloni, J., Markey, K., Rodriguez-Ramirez, A., Lopez-Marcano, S., Gonzalez-Rivero, M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O. and Phinn, S. 2021, 'Fine-scale time series surveys reveal new insights into spatio-temporal trends in coral cover (2002-2018), of a coral reef on the Southern Great Barrier Reef', *Coral Reefs*, 40(4), pp. 1055-1067.

Roelfsema, C, Lyons, M, Castro-Sanguino, C., Kovacs, E, Callaghan, D, Wettle, M, Markey, K, Borrego-Acevedo, R, Tudman, P, Roe, M, Kennedy, E, Gonzalez-Rivero, M, Murray, N & Phinn, S 2021, 'How Much Shallow Coral Habitat Is There on the Great Barrier Reef?', *Remote Sensing*, 13(21).

Rose, N., Bay, R., Morikawa, M., Thomas, L., Sheets, E. and Palumbi, S. 2021, 'Genomic analysis of distinct bleaching tolerances among cryptic coral species', *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 288(1960).

Santana, M., Dawson, A., Motti, C., van Herwerden, L., Lefevre, C. and Kroon, F 2021, 'Ingestion and Depuration of Microplastics by a Planktivorous Coral Reef Fish, Pomacentrus amboinensis', *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 9.

Schaffelke, B, Anthony, K, Babcock, R, Bridge, T, Carlos, E, Diaz-Pulido, G, Gonzalez-Rivero, M, Gooch, M, Hoey, A, Horne, D, Kane, K, McKenzie, C, Merida, F, Molloy, F, Moon, S, Mumby, P, Ortiz, JC, Pears, R, Phinn, S, Ridgway, T, Roelfsema, C, Singleton,G & Thompson, A 2020, Monitoring coral reefs within the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: final report of the coral reef expert group, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Schlaff, A. M., Heupel, M. R., Udyawer, V & Simpfendorfer, C 2020, 'Sex-based differences in movement and space use of the blacktip reef shark, Carcharhinus melanopterus', *PLoS One*, 15(4).

Schlaff, A., Menendez, P., Hall, M., Heupel, M., Armstrong, T. and Motti, C. 2020, 'Acoustic tracking of a large predatory marine gastropod, Charonia tritonis, on the Great Barrier Reef', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 642, pp. 147-161.

Selmoni, O., Lecellier, G., Ainley, L., Collin, A., Doucet, R., Dubousquet, V., Feremaito, H., Waia, E., Kininmonth, S., Magalon, H., Malimali, S., Maugateau, A., Meibom, A., Mosese, S., Rene-Trouillefou, M., Satoh, N., van Oppen, M., Xozame, A., Yekawene, M., Joost, S. and Berteaux-Lecellier, V. 2020, 'Using Modern Conservation Tools for Innovative Management of Coral Reefs: The MANACO Consortium', *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7.

Sen Gupta, A., Thomsen, M., Benthuysen, J. A., Hobday, A. J., Oliver, E., Alexander, L. V., Burrows, M. T., Donat, M. G., Feng, M., Holbrook, N. J., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S., Moore, P. J., Rodrigues, R. R., Scannell, H. A., Taschetto, A. S., Ummenhofer, C. C., Wernberg, T. and Smale, D. A. 2020, 'Drivers and impacts of the most extreme marine heatwaves events', *Sci Rep*, 10(1).

Smith, H., Brown, D., Arjunwadkar, C., Fulton, S., Whitman, T., Hermanto, B., Mastroianni, E., Mattocks, N., Smith, A., Harrison, P., Bostrom-Einarsson, L., McLeod, I. and Bourne, D. 2022, 'Removal of macroalgae from degraded reefs enhances coral recruitment', *Restoration Ecology*. Smith, J. N., Mongin, M., Thompson, A., Jonker, M. J., De'ath, G. and Fabricius, K. E. 2020, 'Shifts in coralline algae, macroalgae, and coral juveniles in the Great Barrier Reef associated with present-day ocean acidification', *Glob Chang Biol*.

Steinberg, C.R., J. Benthuysen, E. Klein-Salas, N.E. Cantin, H. Tonin, S. Spagnol and C.M. Spillman 2021, Oceanographic drivers of bleaching in the GBR: from observations to prediction, in Volume 1: Summary of oceanographic conditions during the 2015-17 bleaching years, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Stoeckl, N., Condie, S. and Anthony, K. 2021, 'Assessing changes to ecosystem service values at large geographic scale: A case study for Australia's Great Barrier Reef', *Ecosystem Services*, 51.

Tarte, D & Yorkston, H 2020, Monitoring estuarine wetlands within the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: Final Report of the Wetlands Expert Group, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Tebbett, S., Hoey, A., Depczynski, M., Wismer, S. and Bellwood, D. 2020, 'Macroalgae removal on coral reefs: realised ecosystem functions transcend biogeographic locations', *Coral Reefs*, 39(1).

Thai, P, Paxman, C, Prasad, P, Elisei, G, Reeks, T, Eaglesham, G, Yeh, R, Tracey, D, Grant, S & Mueller, J 2020, Marine Monitoring Program: Annual Report for inshore pesticide monitoring 2018-19, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Thompson, A & Menendez, P 2020, Supplementary report to the final report of the coral reef expert group: S5. Statistical power of existing AIMS Long-Term Reef Monitoring Programs, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Thompson, A, Costello, P, Davidson, J, Logan, M, Coleman, G 2021, Marine Monitoring Program Annual Report for Inshore Coral Reef Monitoring: 2018-19, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Thompson, A, Costello, P, Davidson, J, Logan, M & Coleman, G 2021, Marine Monitoring Program Annual Report for Inshore Coral Reef Monitoring: 2019–20, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Thompson, A., Martin, K. and Logan, M. 2020, 'Development of the coral index, a summary of coral reef resilience as a guide for management', *J Environ Manage*, 271.

Tol, S., Harrison, M., Groom, R., Gilbert, J., Blair, D., Coles, R. and Congdon, B. 2021, 'Using DNA to distinguish between faeces of Dugong dugon and Chelonia mydas: non-invasive sampling for IUCN-listed marine megafauna', *Conservation Genetics Resources*, 13(2), pp. 115-117.

Townsville Dry Tropics 2021, Townsville Dry Tropics Report Card 2020, Townsville, Queensland, accessed 24 January 2022.

Udyawer, V., Thums, M., Ferreira, C., Tulloch, V. and Kyne, P. 2021, Distribution and Habitat Suitability of Threatened and Migratory Marine Species in Northern Australia, Hobart. Uthicke, S, Castro-Sanguino, C, Ferrari, R, Fabricius, K, Lawrey, E, Flores, F, Patel, F, Brunner, C, & Negri, A 2020, From Exposure to Risk: Novel Experimental Approaches to Analyse Cumulative Impacts and Determine Thresholds in the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area (GBRWHA), Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns.

Uthicke, S., Patel, F., Karelitz, S., Luter, H., Webster, N. and Lamare, M. 2020, 'Key biological responses over two generations of the sea urchin Echinometra sp. A under future ocean conditions', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 637, pp. 87-101.

van Oppen, M. J. H. and Medina, M. 2020, 'Coral evolutionary responses to microbial symbioses', *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 375(1808).

van Oppen, M. J. H. and Oakeshott, J. G. 2020, 'A breakthrough in understanding the molecular basis of coral heat tolerance', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117(46), pp. 28546-28548.

Vercelloni, J., Liquet, B., Kennedy, E. V., González-Rivero, M., Caley, M. J., Peterson, E. E., Puotinen, M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O. and Mengersen, K. 2020, 'Forecasting intensifying disturbance effects on coral reefs', *Glob Chang Biol*, 26(5), pp. 2785-2797.

Voolstra, C. R., Suggett, D. J., Peixoto, R. S., Parkinson, J. E., Quigley, K. M., Silveira, C. B., Sweet, M., Muller, E. M., Barshis, D. J., Bourne, D. G. and Aranda, M. 2021, 'Extending the natural adaptive capacity of coral holobionts', *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, 2(11), pp. 747-762.

Warne, D., Crossman, K., Jin, W., Mengersen, K., Osborne, K., Simpson, M., Thompson, A., Wu, P. and Ortiz, J. 2022, 'Identification of two-phase recovery for interpretation of coral reef monitoring data', *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 59(1), pp. 153-164.

Waterhouse, J, Gruber, R, Logan, M, Petus, C, Howley, C, Lewis, S, Tracey, D, James, C, Mellors, J, Tonin, H, Skuza, M, Costello, P, Davidson, J, Gunn, K, Lefevre, C, Moran, D, Robson, B, Shanahan, M, Zagorskis, I & Shellberg, J 2021, Marine Monitoring Program: Annual Report for Inshore Water Quality Monitoring 2019–20, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Webster, N & Gorsuch, H 2019, Monitoring additional values within the Reef 2050 Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program: Final Report of the Microbes Expert Group, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville.

Westcott, D, Fletcher, C, Kroon, F, Babcock, R, Plaganyi, E, Pratchett, M & Bonin, M 2020, 'Relative efficacy of three approaches to mitigate Crown-of-Thorns Starfish outbreaks on Australia's Great Barrier Reef', *Scientific Reports*, 10(1).

Wet Tropics Waterways 2021, Wet Tropics Waterway Health Report Card 2021, Queensland, accessed 24 January 2022. Wolfe, K., Anthony, K., Babcock, R., Bay, L., Bourne, D., Burrows, D., Byrne, M., Deaker, D., Diaz-Pulido, G., Frade, P., Gonzalez-Rivero, M., Hoey, A., Hoogenboom, M., Mccormick, M., Ortiz, J., Razak, T., Richardson, A., Roff, G., Sheppard-Brennand, H., Stella, J., Thompson, A., Watson, S., Webster, N., Audas, D., Beeden, R., Carver, J., Cowlishaw, M., Dyer, M., Groves, P., Horne, D., Thiault, L., Vains, J., Wachenfeld, D., Weekers, D., Williams, G., Mumby, P., Hawkins, S., Allcock, A., Bates, A., Firth, L., Smith, I., Swearer, S., Evans, A., Todd, P., Russell, B. and McQuaid, C. 2021, 'Priority species to support the functional integrity of coral reefs', *Oceanography and Marine Biology: an Annual Review*, Vol 58.

Wu, Y., Fallon, S., Cantin, N. and Lough, J 2021, 'Assessing multiproxy approaches (Sr/Ca, U/Ca, Li/Mg, and B/Mg) to reconstruct sea surface temperature from coral skeletons throughout the Great Barrier Reef', *Science of the Total Environment*, 786.

APPENDIX F:

Factsheet: Protecting the Great Barrier Reef





28 January 2022

The Australian Government is investing a further **\$1 billion over 9 years (2021-22 to 2029-30)** to help ensure that one of Australia's national treasures, the Great Barrier Reef, is protected for future generations.

Since 2014, the Australian Government has committed more than \$2 billion for Reef protection which has helped to improve water quality, control outbreaks of coral-eating crown-of-thorns starfish, address plastic pollution and rehabilitate island, coastal and reef habitats.

Total combined Australian and Queensland government investment in the Reef is now at **more than \$4.2 billion** since 2014.

Through this additional **\$1 billion** investment, we will build on those achievements by substantially increasing our efforts to protect the Reef, ensuring our management of this national treasure remains world-leading, and generating social and economic benefits for Reef communities.

We will invest in the latest marine science, in water quality and on water management that will play a key role in protecting the Reef and help it withstand the pressures it currently faces.

Our record investment in protecting the Reef will be driven by the best science, genuine engagement with local communities and industries, and respect for the rights and knowledge of Traditional Owners. Our communities carry Australia's pride in the Reef and we will continue to support our farmers, tourism operators, fishers and all our local communities to be our Reef champions and partners. We will support them to be ambitious in their efforts, and will celebrate their achievements, as stewards of the Reef.

What will the \$1 billion fund?

The Australian Government will continue its efforts to reduce pressures on the Reef and develop interventions to help it adapt through a series of measures.

Accelerating Actions to Improve Water Quality (\$579.9 million over 2021-22 to 2029-30)

This latest investment will accelerate efforts to improve the quality of water entering the Great Barrier Reef and meet Reef 2050 Plan water quality targets. Improving water quality will improve the health of the Great Barrier Reef and increase its resilience to global climate change. This investment will:

- support farmers to voluntarily reduce the runoff of fertiliser, pesticide and soil from their properties through the adoption of more efficient farming practices, helping to build a more sustainable and profitable agricultural sector;
- repair landscapes with actively eroding gullies and streambanks to significantly reduce sediment pollution while improving land productivity;

- address sources of water pollution across other land uses, including pollutants from urban and public lands; and
- provide continued support for science and innovation, and monitoring and evaluation to ensure activities are targeted and efficient, and informed by the best scientific and expert advice

Support for World Leading Reef Management (\$252.9 million over 2021-22 to 2029-30)

The Great Barrier Reef is the best managed coral reef in the world and the Australian Government's investment under this package will help keep it that way. To maintain Australia's position and reputation as a world-leading coral Reef manager, the new package will:

- Support the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority (Reef Authority) to advance and adapt its management regime to ensure it is contemporary and focused on the needs of the Reef and Reef-dependent communities, including the tourism sector and fishers.
- Boost coral reef protection through targeted control of the crown-of-thorns starfish; and
- Fund high-impact activities that will deliver enhanced protection of the Reef through direct engagement with the community and Reef industries.

Reef Restoration and Adaptation (\$92.7 million over 2022-23 to 2029-30)

Existing investment by the Australian Government in the \$150 million innovative and ground-breaking Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program (RRAP) is developing a suite of interventions to help the Reef resist, adapt to, and recover from climate change. This new funding will further support Reef restoration and adaptation science to:

- accelerate research and development and the deployment of interventions at scale. Approaches being
 investigated include seeding reefs with coral larvae that are more resilient to warmer waters and marine
 cloud brightening the process of making larger and more reflective clouds over the ocean to cool the
 water underneath.
- identify innovative financing opportunities to attract greater private sector investment in reef restoration and adaptation activities.

Strengthening Partnerships and Stewardship (\$74.4 million over 2021-22 to 2029-30)

To engage local Reef communities and support local action in protecting the Reef's Outstanding Universal Value this funding will support local partnerships and local action on marine species protection. This will strengthen stewardship of the Reef to enhance Reef resilience through:

- Traditional Owner and Reef community on-ground Reef protection projects including clean-up of marine debris, weed and pest control, habitat restoration, and citizen science initiatives.
- Working with industry to invest in solutions and gather information that will deliver a leading edge sustainable fishing sector in the waters of the Reef.

More information

For more information about our package to protect the Great Barrier Reef visit awe.gov.au/parks-heritage/great-barrier-reef/billion-dollar-reef-protection-package



awe.gov.au



our seef our future

Left: K.I. Ross vessel on boating and fisheries patrol in the Reef © The State of Queensland Right: The Reef Joint Field Management Program team work to restore sections of Bait Reef: © Commonwealth of Australia (GBRMPA) Photograph: Johnny Gaskell.



